Climate Change Impacts Upon Plants and Soils Along Environmental Gradients

Insights from Swedish subarctic tundra and boreal forests

Jonathan R. De Long

Faculty of Forest Sciences Department of Forest Ecology and Management Umeå

Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Umeå 2016 Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae 2016:15

Cover: View of part of the elevational gradient on Mount Suorooaivi where experiments presented in papers I and II were conducted. (photo: T. Logan)

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN (print version) 978-91-576-8532-2 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-576-8533-9 © 2016 Jonathan R. De Long, Umeå Print: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 2016

Climate Change Impacts Upon Plants and Soils Along Environmental Gradients: Insights from Swedish subarctic tundra and boreal forests

Abstract

Climate change is altering ecosystems worldwide. Despite advances in our understanding of the effects of increasing temperature, little is known about how increased temperatures will impact upon plants and soils across environmental gradients. This thesis investigated soil legacies and plant defense along a subarctic tundra elevational gradient as well as soil microbial and nematode community and litter decomposition responses to interactions between plant functional group removal and warming along a post-fire successional chronosequence in boreal forest. In subarctic tundra, soil legacies were strongly temperature-driven, but these effects varied between vegetation types, with plants grown in meadow vegetation showing a strong unidirectional decline in growth when grown in soils from increasing elevation and plants grown in heath soils showing no response to elevation. Positive legacy effects were observed in soils from the lowest (i.e., warmest) elevation and these effects were primarily the result of soil abiotic, as opposed to biotic, effects. Subarctic plant defense was reduced by nitrogen (N) fertilization, while phosphorous (P) fertilization had few effects. Nitrogen fertilization reduced plant defense most at the lowest elevation. Along a boreal forest successional gradient, warming and plant functional group removal favored bacteria in the youngest forests. In contrast, the nematode community was impaired by plant functional group removal, but was not responsive to warming or successional stage. Litter decomposition was strongly influenced by understory plant functional groups. Mosses increased litter mass loss and reduced P loss, while shrubs decreased litter mass loss and immobilized more litter P; warming and successional stage were less significant drivers. Taken together, these results demonstrate that above- and belowground responses to temperature can vary considerably in subarctic tundra and boreal forest ecosystems. Therefore, the work presented in this thesis highlights the importance of considering environmental context (i.e., changes associated with increasing elevation/succession) when making predictions about how global climate change will affect plant and soil-mediated ecosystem processes.

Keywords: boreal forest, climate change, decomposition, elevational gradient, plant defense, plant functional group removal, plant-soil interactions, post-fire succession, soil community, soil legacy, subarctic tundra.

Author's address: Jonathan R. De Long, SLU, Department of Forest Ecology and Management, 901 83 Umeå, Sweden *E-mail:* jonathan.de.long@slu.se

Dedication

To the journey and to everyone I have encountered along the way.

Contents

List of Publications	6
Abbreviations	8
1 Introduction	10
1.1 Climate change	10
1.2 Environmental gradients	10
1.3 Soil legacy effects	11
1.4 Plant defense	12
1.5 Soil communities and climate change	14
1.6 Litter decomposition and climate change	15
1.7 Objectives	16
2 Materials and Methods	18
2.1 Study system: Subarctic tundra elevational gradient	18
2.1.1 Direct and indirect impacts of temperature on plant growth	20
2.1.2 Effect of elevation and fertilization on plant chemical defense	21
2.2 Study system: Boreal forest post-fire successional gradient	23
2.2.1 Soil community response to multiple environmental drivers	25
2.2.2 Vascular plant litter decomposition responses to multiple	
environmental drivers	26
2.3 Soil property measurements	27
2.4 Statistical analyses	28
3 Results and Discussion	32
3.1 Direct and indirect impacts of temperature on plant growth	32
3.2 Effects of elevation and fertilization on plant chemical defense	33
3.3 Soil community responses to multiple environmental drivers	34
3.4 Vascular plant litter decomposition responses to multiple environmental	
drivers	35
3.5 Conclusions	36
4 References	42
5 Acknowledgements	54

List of Publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I De Long, J. R., Kardol, P., Sundqvist, M. K., Veen, G. F. (Ciska), and Wardle, D. A. (2015) Plant growth response to direct and indirect temperature effects varies by vegetation type and elevation in a subarctic tundra. *Oikos* 124, 772-783. DOI: 10.1111/oik.01764
- II De Long, J. R., Sundqvist, M. K., Gundale, M. J., Giesler, R. and Wardle, D. A. (2015) Effects of elevation and nitrogen and phosphorus fertilization on place defence compounds in subarctic tundra heath vegetation. *Functional Ecology* (in press) DOI: 10.1111/1365-2435.12493
- III De Long, J. R., Dorrepaal, E., Kardol, P., Nilsson, M. –C., Teuber, L. M., and Wardle, D. A. (2016) Contrasting responses of soil microbial and nematode communities to warming and plant functional group removal along a post-fire boreal forest successional gradient. *Ecosystems* (in press) DOI: 10.1007/s10021-015-9935-0.
- IV De Long, J. R., Dorrepaal, E., Kardol, P., Nilsson, M. –C., Teuber, L. M., and Wardle, D. A. Plant functional groups and litter species identity are stronger drives of litter decomposition than warming along a boreal forest post-fire successional gradient. *Submitted manuscript*.

Papers I-III are reproduced with the permission of the publishers.

Abbreviations

AMF	arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi
С	carbon
cm	centimeter
CO_2	carbon dioxide
CWA	community weighted average
g	gram
h	hours
km	kilometers
m	meter
mg	milligram
mL	milliliter
Ν	nitrogen
NH ₄ -N	ammonium-nitrogen
NO ₃ -N	nitrate-nitrogen
OTC	open top chamber
Р	phosphorus
PCA	principal component analysis
PCC	protein complexation capacity
PLFA	phospholipid fatty acid
PO ₄ -P	phosphate phosphorus
RDA	redundancy analysis
SIR	substrate induced respiration
μm	micrometer

1 Introduction

1.1 Climate change

The Earth's climate is currently undergoing rapid change. Over the last century, surface temperatures have risen by approximately 1 °C and a further increase of 1-3 °C is expected by the end of the current century (IPCC 2013). Further, changes to temperature are likely to alter plant and soil community composition and functioning. Although a growing number of studies have explored the ramifications of increased temperature on above- and belowground communities and ecosystem processes (Bachelet *et al.*, 2001; Bardgett *et al.*, 2008; Garcia-Palacios *et al.*, 2015), there is a lack of knowledge on how temperature may interact with other environmental factors to impact upon plants and soils (Ostle *et al.*, 2009; Kardol *et al.*, 2012). Exploring multiple global change drivers is integral to understanding how our world is going to function as climate change advances.

1.2 Environmental gradients

Studying changes to above- and belowground processes that occur over long time scales is a challenge in terrestrial ecology. Experiments that monitor how ecosystems change over decadal timescales are uncommon (but see (Chapin *et al.*, 1994; Whittaker *et al.*, 1999; Silvertown *et al.*, 2002), while those that measure changes over centennial or millennial scales are non-existent. To circumvent this issue, ecologists often utilize chronosequence experiments or other natural environmental gradients. Properly designed chronosequence experiments that control for confounding variables (e.g., precipitation, parent soil, contrasting successional trajectories) are capable of answering ecological questions based upon "space for time substitution" over time scales that are impossible through other approaches (Fukami & Wardle, 2005; Walker *et al.*,

2010). For example, long-term changes to the plant and soil community associated with secondary succession generated by disturbances such as fire control a number of vital ecosystems processes. Studies along fire-driven forested chronosequences have shown that ecosystem processes such as community assembly, carbon (C) storage and decomposition can change predictably with increasing time since the most recent fire event (Wardle *et al.*, 2003a; Hart & Chen, 2006; Bartels *et al.*, 2016). Additionally, incorporating a climatic manipulation component to chronosequence experiments can enhance our capacity to predict how increasing temperatures generated by advancing climate change will impact upon ecosystems at different stages of chronological development.

Further, the use of elevational gradients has gained recent popularity for determining how factors such as nutrient availability, plant and soil community composition, and species interactions change with climate (Richardson *et al.*, 2005; Sanders *et al.*, 2007; Sundqvist *et al.*, 2011a; Bahram *et al.*, 2012). Similar to the chronosequence approach, the use of elevational gradients for assessing ecosystem responses to temperature change can have an advantage over manipulative experiments because they are better able to assess community and ecosystem processes over longer timeframes and larger spatial scales (Wolkovich *et al.*, 2012; Sundqvist *et al.*, 2013). However, it is essential that other environmental factors that change with elevation (i.e., precipitation, slope/aspect, parent soil, incoming solar radiation) that can drive ecosystem processes are controlled for when selecting elevational gradients. Both successional and elevational gradients have the potential to answer important questions concerning the effects of climate change on above- and belowground ecosystem components.

1.3 Soil legacy effects

Temperature is one of the strongest determinants of plant performance at both local and global scales and advancing global climate change is expected to increase global surface temperatures (IPCC 2013). However, plant performance is also driven by both soil abiotic and biotic factors, and these factors are constantly changing in tandem with the plant community (Aerts & Chapin, 2000; Bardgett & Wardle, 2010). Plants are capable of altering soil abiotic conditions such as mineral nutrient availability (Bezemer *et al.*, 2006), hydrological properties (Bardgett & Wardle, 2010) and soil structure (Angers & Caron, 1998). Additionally, biotic factors such as the densities and composition of soil pathogens (van der Putten *et al.*, 1993), mycorrhizal fungi (Klironomos, 2002), and the decomposer biota that mineralizes nutrients

required for plant growth (Ayres *et al.*, 2009) are also influenced by the plants growing in a particular locale. Soil legacy effects (i.e., the manner in which plants previously growing in a given locale alter soil abiotic and/or biotic conditions) that plant species exert on soil abiotic and biotic properties have consequences for subsequent plant growth and community development. For example, plants may alter successional trajectories by altering nutrient availability (Nilsson & Wardle, 2005; Manning *et al.*, 2008), the soil microbial community (Kardol *et al.*, 2007) or through species-specific priority effects (van de Voorde *et al.*, 2011).

Moreover, interactions between plants and soils also depend upon temporal scale (Kardol *et al.*, 2013) and climatic factors (Richardson *et al.*, 2005; Sanders *et al.*, 2007; Bahram *et al.*, 2012). For example, harsh climatic conditions often impair nutrient mineralization, which lead to plant communities that are adapted to nutrient limitation (Sundqvist *et al.*, 2011b) and soil communities that are adapted to decompose the recalcitrant litter that they produce (Northup *et al.*, 1998). Therefore, disentangling the role that climate plays in the creation of soil legacy effects and the role these effects have in controlling plant performance is vital for predicting how plants will respond to warmer global temperatures.

1.4 Plant defense

Plants have evolved myriad chemical and structural mechanisms to protect themselves from damage, which can be altered by environmental conditions such as climate. With advancing global climate change and resultant higher air surface temperatures, some research predicts plant defenses will increase (Peñuelas & Llusià, 2003), but the effect of increased temperature on plant chemical defense has been seldom explored and is not fully understood (Bidart-Bouzat & Imeh-Nathaniel, 2008).

Polyphenols are a broad class of secondary C-based compounds found in nearly all higher plants (Lattanzio *et al.*, 2006), which afford protection against UV radiation (Close & McArthur, 2002) and microbial pathogens (Scalbert, 1991). Polyphenols help deter herbivory in live foliage (Coley *et al.*, 1985), while after senescence certain classes of polyphenols (i.e., tannins) can regulate nutrient cycling through the formation of protein-stabile tannin compounds (Fierer *et al.*, 2001; Joanisse *et al.*, 2009).

Various theories have been proposed to explain how abiotic and biotic conditions work in tandem to drive the differences found in plant defenses between species and across ecosystems. For example, the 'Carbon Nutrient Balance' hypothesis (Bryant *et al.*, 1983) asserts that when nitrogen (N) is

limited, C is fixed in surplus, which causes increases in C-based defense compounds. Further, the 'Resource Availability' hypothesis (Coley *et al.*, 1985) proposes that slower-growing plants in nutrient-limited environments invest more in defenses to minimize tissue loss due to herbivory, while the 'Protein Competition' hypothesis (Jones & Hartley, 1999) takes a more physiological approach by suggesting trade-offs in the metabolic pathways of plants for the production of photosynthetic vs. defense compounds.



Figure 1. Papers I and II of this thesis utilized a subarctic elevational gradient to examine temperature driven abiotic and biotic soil legacy effects on plant performance and the effects of fertilization and temperature on plant chemical defense.

Despite myriad studies on the topic, there is considerable debate surrounding the predictive power of these theories (Hamilton *et al.*, 2001; Koricheva, 2002; Endara & Coley, 2011; Johnson, 2011). In line with most theories, higher N availability is typically associated with lower polyphenol production (Bryant *et al.*, 1983; Koricheva *et al.*, 1998; Kraus *et al.*, 2004), but the effect of N availability on polyphenols has been found to vary, particularly for subarctic and alpine plant species (Shevtsova *et al.*, 2005; Nybakken *et al.*, 2008; Sundqvist *et al.*, 2012). Further, changes in phosphorus (P) availability have been shown to have little effect on polyphenols (Koricheva *et al.*, 1998),

while others have found polyphenol concentrations in plants to increase (Feller, 1995), or decrease (Zhang *et al.*, 2012) with increasing P availability. Additionally, decreasing temperature and nutrient availability and increasing UV radiation (i.e., increasing physiological stress) associated with increasing elevation have been shown to have positive (Bernal *et al.*, 2013), negative (Wallis *et al.*, 2011) and neutral (Rasmann *et al.*, 2014) effects on plant chemical defenses. However, little is known concerning how the interactive effects of nutrient availability and temperature affect plant defense compounds in either live or senesced leaves in a natural ecosystem.

1.5 Soil communities and climate change

Advancing climate change has already generated an increase in surface temperatures worldwide, which is altering ecosystem functioning on a global scale (IPCC 2013). Different functional groups within the soil community may respond differently to interactions between climatic change and other environmental factors (Shaw *et al.*, 2002; Mikkelsen *et al.*, 2008). Responses to such interactions may depend upon factors such as successional stage. Soil microbes and nematodes are two important components of the soil community that play an essential role in driving nutrient cycling and C storage (Bardgett & Chan, 1999; Bardgett *et al.*, 2008), are indicative of ecosystem functioning, and are sensitive to changes in both climate and plant community composition (Wardle & Zackrisson, 2005; Kardol *et al.*, 2010).

Implications of the direct effects of climate change (i.e., increased temperature) for long-term ecosystem functioning will also depend upon indirect effects on the soil community mediated through plant functional groups (Cleland et al., 2007; Kardol et al., 2010; Langley & Megonigal, 2010) and these may also vary with successional stage. For example, in the boreal forest mosses and shrubs make up the majority of the understory plant community and both contribute significantly to controlling ecosystem productivity (Wardle et al., 2003a; Nilsson & Wardle, 2005) and soil microbial communities (Bradley et al., 2000; Lindo & Gonzalez, 2010). The resultant feedbacks of the effects of warming, successional stage and plant functional groups on the soil community (Bardgett et al., 2008; van der Putten et al., 2010) and the aboveground plant community (van der Putten et al., 2013) have the potential to impact upon ecosystem functioning. Therefore, the consideration of both the direct effects of warming and its indirect effects mediated via plant functional groups along environmental gradients on different components of the soil community is vital for predicting how soil

organisms and the ecosystem processes that they control will respond to global warming.

1.6 Litter decomposition and climate change

Another important ecosystem process that may be affected by climate change in a context-dependent manner is litter decomposition, which serves as one of the primary controls of terrestrial C storage (Swift *et al.*, 1979; Kirschbaum, 1995) and nutrient release (Kalbitz *et al.*, 2000). As the climate warms (IPCC 2013), increasing temperatures are expected to accelerate decomposition rates, creating a positive feedback with climatic warming (i.e., through warming increasing decomposition, in turn releasing more CO_2 , which leads to more warming) (Kirschbaum, 2000; Schuur *et al.*, 2008). However, there is a dearth of knowledge concerning how factors such as litter quality or vegetationgenerated microclimates may influence the effects of increased temperature on decomposition (Davidson & Janssens, 2006; Schmidt *et al.*, 2011). Additionally, decomposition and nutrient release are affected by successional changes in the soil and vegetation (Wardle *et al.*, 2003a; Jonsson & Wardle, 2008), which emphasizes the need to consider successional context when predicting changes to decomposition processes.

Exploring decomposition rates of litters that differ in quality fosters understanding of ecosystem-level changes in C storage (Aerts, 2006). Some studies have shown that litter species identity is a stronger control over decomposition processes than is climate (Hobbie, 1996; Cornwell et al., 2008), but whether this holds across ecosystems and for different plant functional groups remains to be tested. Further, different plant functional groups respond differently to changing climate (Chapin et al., 1995; Hollister et al., 2005) and the microclimate generated by different groups can impact upon decomposition (Straková et al., 2011). Additionally, vegetation changes associated with succession can also alter decomposition processes. For example, the litter of the early successional shrub Vaccinium myrtillus is high in N and decomposes quickly, while Empetrum hermaphroditum and feather mosses (both more dominant in late succession) produce recalcitrant, slow decomposing litter (DeLuca et al., 2002; Wardle et al., 2003a), leading to higher C storage in oldaged boreal forests (Wardle et al., 2003a). Therefore, investigating how the direct effects of warming and its indirect effects driven by changes in plant functional groups alter with succession is essential to predicting how decomposition and nutrient dynamics will be affected as climate change advances.



Figure 2. Papers III and IV of this thesis utilized an open top chamber (OTC) warming and plant functional group removal experimental set up along a post-fire successional gradient to investigate soil community and litter decomposition responses.

1.7 Objectives

The overall aim of this thesis is to better understand how plant and soil communities respond to changing temperatures across environmental gradients. Research included in papers I and II was conducted along an established subarctic elevational gradient near Abisko, Sweden (Figure 1). papers III and IV focused on a plant removal and warming experiment established along a post-fire successional chronosequence near Arvidsjaur, Sweden (Figure 2). Paper I investigated how the direct and indirect effects of temperature change with elevation and vegetation type to impact upon plant growth responses. Specifically, plants were grown in controlled growth chamber experiments in soils from two vegetation types from along the subarctic elevational gradient to tease apart the abiotic and biotic factors driving growth response. Paper II explored how plant defense traits responded to fertilization and changing temperature associated with increasing elevation. An established N and P fertilization experiment from along the elevational gradient was used to determine the contributions of temperature, fertilization and their interactions to plant defense. For papers III and IV, a fully factorial experiment in which plots were subjected to warming, moss removal and shrub removal was carried out in ten sites ranging from 48 to 368 years since the last

stand-replacing fire to investigate how interactions between these factors drive ecological processes. Specifically, paper III focused on how soil microbial and nematode communities responded to these treatments, while paper IV focused on how these treatments drive vascular plant litter decomposition and nutrient release.

The central questions of each of the papers in this thesis are as follows:

- I. Are plant growth responses along an elevational gradient driven by direct and/or indirect temperature effects, vegetation type or abiotic and biotic properties of the soil?
- II. How are plant chemical defenses affected by interactions between fertilization and the environmental changes associated with increasing elevation?
- III. How does the soil community respond to interactions between warming, moss removal, shrub removal and successional stage?
- IV. How does decomposition and nutrient release of vascular plant litter respond to interactions between warming, moss removal, shrub removal and successional stage?

This thesis addresses this set of questions to further our understanding of how climate change will interact with plants and soil along environmental gradients to drive ecosystem processes and functioning both above- and belowground. Considering the interactions of increasing temperatures with the abiotic and biotic environment is crucial for predicting how plants and soils and the ecosystem processes that they drive will respond to advancing climate change.

2 Material and Methods

2.1 Study system: Subarctic tundra elevational gradient

Research for papers I and II was conducted along a well-established elevational gradient (Sundqvist et al., 2011a; Sundqvist et al., 2011b; Milbau et al., 2013) on the northeast-facing slope of Mount Suorooaivi, located approximately 20 km south of Abisko, Sweden (68°21'N, 18°49'E) (Figure 3). The growing season is approximately three months and the climate is subarctic with a mean annual temperature of approximately -2.2 °C in the region (Björk et al., 2007). Mean growing season air temperature declines by around 3 °C from 450 to 1000 m along this elevational gradient (Sundqvist et al., 2011a), making this gradient ideal for comparing climate and soil drivers of plant performance across a temperature range that is on par with expected future increases over the coming century (IPCC 2013). Mean annual precipitation measured at the Abisko Scientific Research Station was 310 mm between 1913-2000, with peak precipitation occurring in July (51 mm) and the lowest in April (12 mm) (Kohler et al., 2006). Along this elevational gradient, precipitation ranges from 230-290 mm from June to October and shows no change with elevation (Sundqvist *et al.*, 2014), in line with other comparable elevational gradients in the region (Karlsson et al., 2005). The tree line is found at 500-600 m and is composed of Betula pubescens ssp. czerepanovii. Parent soil material consists of salic igneous rocks and quartic and phyllitic hard schists.

A mosaic of two markedly contrasting ground-layer vegetation types are codominant at all elevations of this gradient. These vegetation types include heath, which is dominated by ericaceous dwarf-shrubs with sparse grass coverage, and meadow, which is dominated by graminoid and herbaceous species (Figure 4). The heath vegetation typically has lower pH, lower mineral N and higher P availability than does the meadow vegetation (Björk *et al.*, 2007; Sundqvist *et al.*, 2011a; Sundqvist *et al.*, 2011b). Studies along this

gradient have found contrasting responses to increasing elevation (i.e. decreasing temperature) between the two vegetation types. Specifically in the heath vegetation, with increasing elevation there are linear decreases in plant-available N and P, increasing fungal to bacterial ratios and low plant species turnover (Sundqvist *et al.*, 2011a). The meadow vegetation is associated with plant available P that declines with increasing elevation (Vincent *et al.*, 2014), idiosyncratic N availability, a peak in fungal to bacterial ratios at mid elevations, and higher plant species turnover with increasing elevation (Sundqvist *et al.*, 2011a; Sundqvist *et al.*, 2011b). Given the pan-arctic distribution of these two vegetation types (Walker *et al.*, 2005), it is vital to investigate how changes in climate (i.e., temperature) will impact upon both heath and meadow vegetation ecological processes.

In both experiments along this elevational gradient, the mean distance between plots within vegetation types and within elevations was between c. 10-48 m. Considering the high level of heterogeneity over short distances observed in this study system (Björk *et al.*, 2007), it is expected this distance is sufficient to ensure independence between plots (Sundqvist *et al.*, 2012). Further, all plots used in these experiments had the same slope and aspect.



Figure 3. Map showing the location of the research sites used in papers I and II. Sites at varying elevations along the slope of Mount Suorooaivi are marked on the topographic map inset.

2.1.1 Direct and indirect impacts of temperature on plant growth

Five plots of $1 \text{ m} \times 1 \text{ m}$ were established at each of three elevations, i.e., 450, 700, and 900 m, for each of the heath and meadow vegetation types. Two fully factorial concurrent growth chamber experiments were set up using soils collected adjacent to each plot. In Experiment 1, field soils were processed by removing large stones and roots and then thoroughly homogenized within each vegetation type per elevation (Pizano et al., 2011). Subsamples of soil were put into plastic pots (total volume of 490 mL), each containing a drainage layer at the bottom of 150 mL sterilized sand and the remaining volume filled with the collected field soil; there were 30 pots for each elevation \times vegetation type combination. Two common grass species (Deschampsia flexuosa, which is more common in heath vegetation, and Festuca ovina, which is more common in meadow vegetation) that occur across the entire elevational gradient were selected as phytometers. Seeds were obtained from natural sources (Pratensis AB, Sweden; Deschampsia flexuosa: Småland, Sweden; Festuca ovina: Umeå, Sweden), surface-sterilized in a 1% sodium hypochlorite solution for 1 minute, rinsed, and germinated in autoclaved sand. Next, for each of the two species, five seedlings were transplanted into half of the pots for each elevation \times vegetation type combination. For the 15 pots for each elevation × vegetation type \times species combination, five replicate pots were placed in each of three growth chambers, whose conditions were set to mimic temperature conditions as observed at 450, 700, and 900 m along the elevational gradient during the 2012 growing season. Photosynthetically active radiation (PAR) and hours of daylight were set in each growth chamber to represent conditions measured from mid June to mid September 2012 in the vicinity of the elevational gradient. Pots were rotated systematically between chambers (i.e. entire temperature treatments moved between chambers) on a weekly basis to control for any artifacts resulting from differences between growth chambers that were independent of treatment. After 12 weeks the three largest individual seedlings in each pot were harvested. Upon harvest and before drying, a subsample of root tissue was taken from plants in all pots containing soils from the most extreme elevations (i.e., 450 and 900 m) that were grown in chambers that mimicked the 450 and 900 m temperature conditions, to measure the abundance of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) colonization. Roots were carefully washed and separated from the shoots. Samples were oven dried and weighed.

Experiment 2 sought to separate the contribution of abiotic and biotic components of soil effects from contrasting elevations and vegetation types. For Experiment 2, an equal subsample of soil from all plots within each vegetation type from all elevations was taken and combined into two bulk

soils, one representing heath and the other representing meadow. The bulk soils were then sent out for γ -irradiation, which is a method shown to effectively sterilize soils while exerting minimal impacts on other soil properties (Berns et al., 2008). By comparing sterilized soils to reinoculated soils, the effects of abiotic vs. biotic soil factors on plant growth can be effectively separated (Kardol et al., 2007). For each of the vegetation types, we prepared four inoculation treatments (i.e. inoculation with unsterilized soil from each of the three elevations or with sterilized soil) in order to explore the effects of soil biota and nutrients on plant growth. A volume of 10% unsterilized soil from each elevation or sterilized soil was mixed with the bulked sterilized soil. Plant performance in the pots inoculated with unsterilized soils relative to the corresponding sterilized soils allows for an assessment of the effect of soil biota (Kardol et al., 2007; Gundale et al., 2014b). Prepared soils were then placed into plastic pots as per Experiment 1, yielding a total of 30 pots per vegetation type \times soil inoculum treatment, except for the bulked sterilized soils with sterilized inoculum for which there were 60 pots per vegetation type. Half of the pots of each soil treatment were planted with one of the two grass species, as per Experiment 1. Five replicates of all vegetation × inoculum × species combinations (or ten for the sterilized soil treatments) were placed in each of the three climate chambers set to mimic conditions observed along the gradient at 450, 700 and 900 m sites, as per Experiment 1. This resulted in a full-factorial experiment with four factors: 1) three growth chamber temperatures simulating the temperature characteristics of the three elevations; 2) soil from the two vegetation types, heath and meadow; 3) four soil inoculum treatments, including soil inoculum from each of the three elevations (i.e., 450, 700 and 900 m) and bulked sterilized soil without inoculum; and 4) two grass species (see above), with five replicates (or ten for sterilized uninoculated soil treatments) of each treatment combination. This yielded a total of 300 pots with each pot serving as a separate experimental unit. Maintenance, rotations, chamber settings, duration of experiment, harvesting and AMF measurements were as described in Experiment 1.

2.1.2 Effects of elevation and fertilization on plant chemical defense

For paper II we utilized plots from a fertilization experiment (along the same elevational gradient as described in paper I) first described by Sundqvist *et al.* (2014). During July 2008 a total of 48 plots measuring 1×1 m were established in heath vegetation at each of the three elevations along the gradient, i.e., 500, 800, and 1000 m. At each elevation 16 replicate plots were established, and divided into four blocks of four plots; the four plots in each

block were randomly assigned one of four fertilization treatments: control, N addition, P addition and N+P addition. Fertilizer was applied to the treatment plots annually in the amount of 10 g N m⁻² yr⁻¹ as NH₄NO₃ and 5 g P m⁻² yr⁻¹ as superphosphate (Ca(H₂PO₄)₂·H₂O). The amounts of N and P fertilization used in this experiment are consistent with previous studies that have sought to study N and P limitation in arctic ecosystems (Jonasson, 1992; Chapin *et al.*, 1995; Mack *et al.*, 2004; Rinnan *et al.*, 2007).

To determine the effects of elevation and fertilization on leaf chemical and structural traits, approximately 3 g dry weight per species of both fresh and senesced fully expanded undamaged leaves of all major vascular plant species were collected from all plots during 2012. Leaves were sampled from each individual of each species in each plot, which is considered sufficient to capture total intraspecific variability (incorporating variability both among and within individuals) at the plot scale (Albert et al., 2011; Lepš et al., 2011; Violle et al., 2012). The species selected represent over 80% of the vascular plant species cover at each elevation (Sundqvist *et al.* 2014) as determined by point quadrat analysis (Goodall, 1952). It must be noted that species growth form can confound the results of point quadrat analysis (Bråthen & Hagberg, 2004), which may have impacted upon the results obtained. This resulted in a total of eight species collected from the gradient: Betula nana (800, 1000 m), Calamagrostis lapponica (800, 1000 m), Cassiope tetragona (1000 m), Deschampsia flexuosa (500 m), Empetrum hermaphroditum (500, 800, 1000 m), Vaccinium myrtillus (500 m), V. uliginosum (800, 1000 m) and V. vitisidaea (500, 800, 1000 m).

Subsamples of both fresh and senesced leaves from each species from each plot were dried and sorted in the lab prior to being ground. A subsample of each dried leaf sample was analyzed for foliar C, N, and P and for lignin using acid digestion. An additional subsample of leaf litter was extracted in methanol. Two sub aliquots of this subsample were each analyzed for total phenol and condensed tannin concentrations using the Prussian Blue technique with a catechin standard (Stern *et al.*, 1996) and the acid-butanol method with procyanidin standard B2 (Porter *et al.*, 1986), respectively. Another subsample of leaf litter was extracted in de-ionized water. This subsample was used to determine protein complexation capacity (PCC) to measure the amount of protein precipitated by each leaf extract (Gundale *et al.*, 2010). All of the above extractions were filtered through 0.2 μ m filter paper under vacuum filtration, stored at -18 °C until further analysis and removed from the freezer 24 h prior to analysis to eliminate temperature-induced interference with reaction kinetics.



Figure 4. An example of typical meadow vegetation from the 700 m elevation used in paper I. Photo: Paul Kardol

2.2 Study system: Boreal forest post-fire successional gradient

The ten field sites used in papers III and IV were located near Arvidsjaur in northern Sweden (65°35'-66°07'N, 17°15'-19°26'E) along a fire-driven boreal forest chronosequence (Figure 5). Time since last fire varies from 48 to 368 years along this chronosequence. In these experiments, the sites are divided into early, mid and late successional stages, with time since last fire of < 100 years (three sites), 100-260 years (four sites), and > 260 years (three sites), respectively (Jackson *et al.*, 2013). The overstory becomes increasingly dominated by *Picea abies* with an understory of *Empetrum hermaphroditum* as time since fire increases, while moss cover thickness increases (DeLuca *et al.*, 2002). Further, there is a decrease in nutrient availability (DeLuca *et al.*, 2002) and litter decomposition rates (Jackson *et al.*, 2013) as the chronosequence proceeds. The climate is cold temperate humid with cool summers and a mean annual temperature of -2 °C (July 12 °C and January -14 °C, monthly means) and mean annual precipitation is about 600 mm (Jackson *et al.*, 2002).

Both papers III and IV utilized an experiment that involved plant functional group removals and warming treatments using open top chambers (OTCs) along this chronosequence. Functional group removal experiments are useful for understanding how different plant groups affect above- and belowground

ecosystem processes (Díaz *et al.*, 2003; McLaren & Turkington, 2010). The use of OTCs has been extensive in alpine and arctic environments to experimentally simulate climate warming during the growing season, and in these systems generally raises average air and soil temperatures over that period by approximately 1-2 °C (Marion *et al.*, 1997; Hudson *et al.*, 2011).

At each site, four hexagonal plots were established in June 2010 in relatively open patches of forest to avoid shading by dense continuous canopy to the south of the plot and thus interference with the OTC warming treatment. Selected plots had a homogeneous vascular understory representative for that site. Each plot was randomly assigned to one of four full-factorial combinations of warming (ambient or warming temperature) and shrub removal (shrubs present or removed). Each plot was then divided into two, and a moss removal treatment (mosses present or removed) was randomly assigned to one of the two subplots. Across all sites, this yielded a total of 80 subplots: ten sites (classified by successional stage as early, mid and late) \times two temperature treatments (ambient or warming) \times two moss treatments (present or removed).

Shrub and moss removal was performed by hand, with care taken to remove as much living biomass of the target functional group as possible with minimal disturbance to other plants and litter within each subplot, as per Wardle and Zackrisson (2005). Plots were allowed to recover from the initial removal disturbance for three growing seasons before measurements were taken, which is considered sufficient time to avoid any confounding effects of disturbance (Wardle & Zackrisson, 2005; Wardle *et al.*, 2013). Functional group removal was maintained as necessary on a yearly basis at the beginning of the growing season. For the plots subjected to OTC warming treatments, we used transparent, Perspex OTCs. One OTC was placed over each plot receiving the warming treatment (Figure 6) each year at the beginning of the growing season (early June) and removed at the end of the growing season (early October).

For paper III, plant community composition and air and soil temperatures were recorded in all subplots. For paper IV, air temperatures were recorded in moss present plots only. Plant community assessment included all vascular and non-vascular plants, as assessed by point quadrat analysis (Goodall, 1952) in each subplot. This was performed by recording the total number of times each species was intercepted from a total of 100 downward projecting points in each plot (Wardle *et al.*, 2003a). The total number of intercepts of each species in each plot was used as the measure for species abundance. Again, it must be noted that species growth form can confound the results of point quadrat analysis (Bråthen & Hagberg, 2004), which may have impacted upon the results obtained. Standing litter (which includes litter hanging in the vegetation

and resting on the soil surface) and bare humus in the plots were also recorded whenever intercepted. Air temperature data were gathered five cm above the soil surface (papers III and IV) and soil temperature data five cm below the soil surface (paper III) (or five cm below the surface of the living moss, when present in paper III). Plots receiving the OTC treatment in this experiment had early season mean air temperatures that were approximately 0.4 °C and 0.3 °C higher relative to the plots without OTCs in the 2013 and 2014 growing seasons, respectively. Although this temperature increase is somewhat lower than in OTC experiments in arctic and alpine systems (Marion *et al.*, 1997; Hudson & Henry, 2010), it is on par with similar warming studies that have shown significant ecosystem responses to comparable temperature changes (Rustad *et al.*, 2001).



Figure 5. Map showing the location of the research sites used in papers III and IV along a boreal forest successional gradient. Location of specific research sites is indicated on the detailed inset map.

2.2.1 Soil community response to multiple environmental drivers

In order to quantify the effects of successional stage, warming and plant functional group removal on the soil microbial and nematode communities, soil samples were collected from two locations in each subplot in 2013, using a 1.7 cm diameter corer to sample 10-15 cores to a maximum depth of 6 cm. The



soils were bulked per subplot, and kept at 4 °C until analysis. Prior to passing each bulked sample through a sieve with 4 mm mesh size to remove stones and plant matter, a subsample of 250 mL was taken for nematode extraction.

A subsample of soil from each subplot was analyzed for phospholipid fatty acid (PLFA) markers (Bligh & Dyer, 1959; White *et al.*, 1979). Different subsets of the microbial community are characterized by different PLFA markers, making these markers useful for answering questions about shifts in the total microbial community in response to environmental or treatment factors (Frostegård *et al.*, 1993; Ramsey *et al.*, 2006; Frostegård *et al.*, 2011). After freeze-drying and grinding, PLFAs were extracted from each subsample according to Frostegård *et al.* (1991). Different PLFAs represent different groups of soil microorganisms, such as bacteria (both gram positive and gram negative), fungi and actinomycetes (Frostegård & Bååth, 1996; Zelles, 1999). The ratio of fungal to bacterial PLFA markers was calculated from these data.

Nematodes were extracted from an unsieved, homogenized 250 mL soil subsample from each subplot by using a modified sugar floatation method (Jenkins, 1964); these nematodes were then fixed using a 4% formaldehyde solution. A minimum of 150 nematodes per subplot were identified to family (or super-family in the case of Dorylaimoidea) level and placed into one of four feeding groups (Yeates *et al.*, 1993), i.e. bacterial feeders, fungal feeders, plant feeders, and omnivore-carnivores. The ratio of fungal to bacterial feeding nematodes was calculated.

2.2.2 Vascular plant litter decomposition responses to multiple environmental drivers

For paper IV, freshly senesced leaf litter was collected from around Umeå, Sweden (63°49'N, 20°26'E) early September 2013 from Vaccinium myrtillus, Pinus sylvestris, and Empetrum hermaphroditum, which represent species with fast, medium and slow rates of decomposition, respectively (Wardle et al., 2003b). Litter was cleaned, sorted and allowed to dry at room temperature (25 °C) for five days. For each species a subsample of litter was retained for analysis of %N and %P (representing concentrations of nutrients prior to decomposition) by Kjeldahl analysis so that the amount of N and P lost or gained during decomposition could be calculated. Nylon bags (7×11 cm; 100 µm mesh) were filled with 1 g of dried litter of each species and closed with a metal tie. Two duplicates of each litter type were each placed on the surface of the moss layer, at the interface between the moss layer and the humus layer in each of the moss present subplots and on the surface of the bare humus in each of the moss removal subplots in October 2013. Placing litterbags in these three positions allows for simultaneous comparisons of how moss presence versus absence affects litter decomposition by impacting upon humus layer microbial

activity (i.e., litter bags placed at the moss/humus interface and litterbags placed on bare humus) and how freshly fallen litter is affected by moss presence versus absence (i.e., litter bags placed on the moss surface and litterbags placed on bare humus (Jackson *et al.*, 2013)). Between all sites, this yielded a total of 720 litterbags: ten sites \times two temperature treatments (ambient or warming) \times two shrub treatments (present or removed) \times three bag positions (above moss surface, moss/humus interface, bare humus) \times three litter types \times two duplicates of each litter type.

All the litterbags were retrieved from the field in October 2014 after one year of decomposition and taken back to the lab where they were dried at 60 °C for a minimum of 48 h. Each duplicate litterbag was weighed individually to determine mass loss and the values of the two duplicates were averaged to provide a single data point prior to analysis. Duplicates from each of the litter bag position treatments (i.e., above moss surface, moss/humus interface, bare humus) were bulked, ground, and analyzed for %N and %P, by Kjeldahl analysis. The N to P ratio of each litter sample was calculated. Mass loss and N and P concentration data were also used to determine the total amount of nutrients lost from the litter during decomposition (Wardle *et al.*, 2003b).

To analyze soil nutrient supply over the course of a year, a resin capsule containing approximately 1 g of mixed bed ionic resins was placed in the humus layer of each subplot approximately 5 cm deep (Gundale *et al.*, 2014a) in October 2013. These were then collected from the field in October 2014, and stored at 4 °C until ions were extracted with three extractions of 10 mL 1 M KCl and pooled into one sample. Extracts were frozen at -18 °C until analyzed for NH₄-N, NO₃-N and PO₄-P.

Substrate-induced respiration (SIR) was used to quantify the relative active soil microbial biomass (Anderson & Domsch, 1978; Wardle, 1993). Three soil cores to a depth of 6 cm were collected from each subplot October 2014, using a 1.7 cm diameter corer. The three cores were bulked and kept at 4 °C until analysis. From this sample, a 1 g (dry weight equivalent) subsample of soil was placed into a 120 mL glass vial, amended to 100% moisture (dry weight basis), amended with 50 mg glucose, sealed and incubated at 22 °C. Measurements of CO_2 were taken at 1 h and 3 h by injecting a 5 mL subsample of headspace gas into a gas analyzer, which was used as a measure of SIR.

2.3 Soil property measurements

A number of soil properties were characterized in papers I, II and III to aid interpretation of the results. Soils were collected from each plot/subplot with a soil corer, bulked and kept at 4 °C overnight before being passed through a 4

mm mesh sieve to remove plant matter and stones. Soil pH was determined on a subsample of fresh soil (2.5 g dry weight) after shaking for 12 h in 40 mL deionized water (papers I, II, III). Gravimetric moisture content was determined after drying (105 °C, 24 h) and soil organic matter (SOM) content was determined after combustion in a muffle furnace (550 °C, 4 h) (papers I, II, III). A subsample of fresh soil (5 g dry weight equivalent) was extracted with 1 M KCl after shaking for 2 h; extracts were frozen until analyzed for NO₃-N, NH₄-N, and PO₄-P (papers II, III). A subsample of soil was dried (60 °C, 72 h), ground with a ball mill and analyzed for total C and N by dry combustion (papers I, II, III) and for P with nitric-perchloric acid digestion analyzed by inductively coupled plasma (Spark 1996) (papers I, II, III). In paper I, a subsample of soil from each plot was analyzed for phospholipid fatty acid (PLFA) markers (Bligh & Dyer, 1959; White *et al.*, 1979). Please see above for a full description of the PLFA analysis, outlined in section 2.2.1.

2.4 Statistical analyses

In paper I, two-way ANOVA was used to test for the effects of vegetation type and elevation on soil properties. For both experiments in paper 1, 4-way ANOVA was used to test for the effects of temperature, soil origin (or soil inoculation in Experiment 2), vegetation type and species, and all possible interactions (all as fixed factors, and with block as a random factor) on root biomass, shoot biomass, total biomass, root to shoot ratio and mycorrhizal colonization.

In paper II, three-way ANOVA was used to test for the effects of elevation, N addition, P addition and all possible interactions on soil abiotic properties, and on the measured leaf trait values of all species that occurred at two or more elevations. Elevation, N addition and P addition were considered fixed factors, with block as a random factor. To further examine the link between plant secondary metabolites and foliar nutrient ratios, Pearson's correlation coefficients were calculated.

Further, to explore changes in the fresh and senesced leaf trait values measured at the whole community level across the elevational gradient and in response to N and P addition in paper II, community weighted averages (CWA) were calculated as described by Garnier *et al.* (2007). The use of CWAs is based upon the idea that the contribution of each species to ecological processes at the whole community level is related to the proportion of total community biomass that it represents (Grime, 1998; Garnier *et al.*, 2004). For each leaf trait in each plot, CWAs were calculated as:

Weighted plot-average =
$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} (p_i \times trait_i)$$

where p_i is the relative abundance of species *i* in a plot (as a proportion of the total abundance), and *trait_i* is the measured leaf trait of species *i*. A three-way ANOVA was then used on the CWA values for total phenols, condensed tannins, PCC, lignin and foliar nutrient ratios. Further, the method developed by Lepš *et al.* (2011) was used to determine the relative contributions of intraand interspecific trait variation on the response of weighted average trait values to elevation and nutrient treatments. Partitioning trait variance into intra- and interspecific components is important for determining their relative contributions to ecological processes (Albert *et al.*, 2011; Lepš *et al.*, 2011; Violle *et al.*, 2012).

In paper III, all soil abiotic, microbial and nematode data were analyzed using four-way mixed model ANOVA. Successional stage (early, mid, late), warming (ambient or warming temperature), moss removal (removed or present) and shrub removal (removed or present) were considered fixed factors. Site (i.e., the ten sites used in the experiment) and plot (i.e., each hexagonal plot which was divided into two separate subplots with moss removed and moss present, respectively) were considered random factors to account for variation between experimental sites and the subplot factor, respectively. When plot was not a significant random factor, it was dropped from the model. Temperature data was analyzed in the same way as for the other variables except that a repeated measures term was also included because daily temperature data was used (and the same model was also used for temperature data in paper IV).

In order to examine the effects of the experimental treatments on the plant community and therefore assist in the interpretation of the soil community data, Principal Component Analyses (PCA) were performed. These PCAs were also included in paper IV to help interpret the decomposition data. One PCA was run which included only mosses and non-shrub vascular plants (i.e., excluding all subplots receiving the moss removal treatment and excluding all shrubs). Another PCA was run which included only vascular plants (i.e., excluding all plots receiving the shrub removal treatment and excluding all moss species). Data were analyzed in separate ordinations to avoid confounding effects of the removal of plants from driving the ordination scores (Wardle *et al.*, 2013), and so that the effects of the warming and successional stage treatments could be more clearly depicted.

To determine how the experimental treatment effects as mediated through the plant community and soil abiotic properties were driving the microbial

community, and how the experimental treatment effects as mediated through the plant community, abiotic soil properties and microbial community were driving the nematode community, we used partial Redundancy Analysis (RDA). A partial RDA with site as a random factor was performed in both cases because the microbial and nematode communities were compositional response variables with 1 and 1.6 SD units, respectively, indicating a linear response (Šmilauer & Lepš, 2014). Only plant species with > 20% cover in one or more subplots (as well as standing litter and bare humus, which are known to impact upon soil microbial communities (Sayer, 2006)) were considered as predictor variables to avoid large influences of rare species on the ordination and to eliminate excessive zeros from the data matrix before analysis (Borcard et al., 1992; Sundqvist et al., 2011a); the species included accounted for at least 80% of the vegetation cover in each subplot. Stand productivity was also incorporated as a potential explanatory variable. All explanatory variables were then subjected to Monte Carlo permutation tests with 999 permutations. Plots were freely permuted and subplots were not permuted. Forward selection of significant explanatory variables was carried out, with each explanatory variable that explained a significant amount of variance ($p \le 0.05$) retained in forward selection as per Blanchet et al. (2008).

In paper IV, litter data were analyzed using five-way mixed model ANOVA. Stand age (early, mid, late), warming (ambient or warming), shrub removal (removed or present), litterbag position (above moss surface, moss/humus interface, bare humus) and litter species (*E. hermaphroditum, P. sylvestris* and *V. myrtillus*) were considered fixed factors. Site (i.e., the ten sites used in the experiment) and plot (i.e., each hexagonal plot which was divided into two separate subplots with moss removed [litterbags only placed upon bare humus] and moss present [litterbags placed both upon the moss surface and at the moss/humus interface]) were considered random factors to account for variation between experimental sites and the plots, respectively. Resin capsule and SIR data were analyzed as above except there was no species factor and the bag position factor was replaced with a moss removal (present or removed) factor. When effects of site and/or plot were not significant, they were dropped from the model.

For all ANOVAs, whenever significant effects were found, differences among means were further explored using post hoc tests. For all analyses in all papers, data were transformed whenever necessary to meet the assumptions for parametric testing. All statistical analyses were performed in SPSS (PASW statistics 21.0, IBM Corporation, Armonk, New York, USA) or SAS (Hewlett-Packard 9.4 TS level 1M0, Cary, North Carolina, USA). Multivariate analyses

in papers III and IV were performed in CANOCO version 5.02 (ter Braak and Šmilauer 2012).



Figure 6. Open top chambers placed over plots receiving different plant functional removal treatments at one of the late successional stage boreal forest sites (Vaksliden; last fire was in the year 1711). Photo: Babs Stuiver

3 Results and Discussion

The chapters contained within this thesis aim to explore how climate impacts upon plants and soils along elevational and successional gradients. Along these gradients, climate often interacted with other factors such as vegetation type, fertilization and plant functional group removal to drive plant growth, plant defense, soil community composition and vascular plant litter decomposition. Below the major findings of each paper are presented and briefly discussed.

3.1 Direct and indirect impacts of temperature on plant growth

Plants grown in soils from the elevational gradient in the growth chamber experiment responded to both the direct effect of temperature and its indirect effect via soil legacies; these direct and indirect effects were generally decoupled (paper I). Vegetation type (i.e., different soil conditions) was a major determinant of plant responses to both the direct and indirect effects of temperature. Importantly, plants grown in soils from meadow vegetation generally showed a strong unidirectional decline in biomass with increasing elevation of soil origin regardless of temperature treatment, but plants grown in heath soils showed no such response to the soil legacy effects of temperature. The non-responsiveness of the plants grown in heath soils from contrasting elevations indicates a "buffering effect" of these soils against temperature variation, indicating that the plants growing in them may be more resistant in their response to temperature change (Hudson & Henry, 2010). However, this result must be interpreted cautiously given that the species selected as phytometers in this experiment were grasses and may therefore have been more responsive when grown in meadow soils, which were likely more favorable due to factors such as better matched arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal communities.

Further, the influence of soil biota (as tested with the sterilization and inoculum addition treatments) was independent of elevation, with a positive effect of inoculum on plant growth across all elevations regardless of soil origin for meadow soils but not for heath soils. However, the highest mycorrhizal colonization was often observed in plants grown in meadow soils collected from 900 m elevation and grown at 900 m temperatures. This indicates a more important role of mycorrhizae with increasing elevation resulting from the associated declines in nutrient availability and temperature (Pérez & Frangi, 2000). Taken together, this means that responses of plant growth to soil legacy effects of temperature across this elevational gradient were driven primarily by soil abiotic, and not biotic, factors. This indicates that, at least in the short term, abiotic soil conditions were stronger drivers of plant performance than biotic soil conditions. These findings highlight the importance of considering the direct, indirect, and interactive effects of climate, vegetation and soils to better understand and predict how subarctic ecosystems may respond to climate change (Kardol et al., 2012).

3.2 Effects of elevation and fertilization on plant chemical defense

At the community level, N addition reduced condensed tannin concentrations and PCC in both fresh and senesced leaves and total phenol concentrations in senesced leaves, while P addition had few effects on plant secondary metabolites in subarctic heath vegetation (paper II). Further, at lower (i.e., warmer) elevations, N addition frequently decreased these plant defenses more, meaning that a warmer climate with increased nutrient availability will likely reduce plant defense concentrations. Both intraspecific and interspecific variation emerged as strong drivers of the response of plant defense to elevation, while intraspecific variation and its covariation with interspecific variation were the main components of defense response to N addition. These findings demonstrate the need to consider both sources of variation in explaining plant defense response to changes in environmental conditions. Our findings suggest that as temperatures warm and N availability increases due to global climate change, secondary metabolites in subarctic heath vegetation will decline.

Further, plant defense traits measured in both fresh and senesced leaves responded markedly similarly to the elevation and fertilization treatments, despite evidence that total polyphenol concentrations often decrease, while tannin concentrations often increase, considerably with senescence (Gallet & Lebreton, 1995; Hättenschwiler & Vitousek, 2000). Therefore, responses to

extrinsic factors of leaf chemistry in fresh leaves (which regulate herbivory) are capable of predicting responses of senesced leaf chemistry (which regulate decomposition and nutrient fluxes). This indicates that these two contrasting ecological processes seem to be tightly coupled in subarctic heath vegetation.

Subarctic heath vegetation has high levels of polyphenols (Gundale et al., 2010) that act as defense against herbivory and impair plant litter decomposition rates. Responses of plant defenses in subarctic heath to increasing temperatures and N availability, particularly in low elevation communities that currently experience high invertebrate herbivory pressure (Hagen et al., 2007), will likely lead to further increased herbivory and altered decomposition rates and nutrient fluxes (Bardgett & Wardle, 2003), which may result in feedbacks to the plant community (Facelli & Pickett, 1991). Further, increased N mineralization rates that are expected to result from climate warming in the arctic (Aerts, 2006), may down-regulate concentrations of tannins and PCC for some species which could change interactions between litter chemistry, decomposition, plant N availability and plant growth (Dorrepaal et al., 2007). These results emphasize the need to consider interactions between temperature and nutrients in regulating the role that polyphenols play in fresh leaves (i.e., defense) and in senesced leaves (i.e., nutrient cycling) of subarctic heath plant communities, and the importance of addressing these interactions when predicting how future climate change will alter ecosystem functioning.

3.3 Soil community responses to multiple environmental drivers

Warming from the OTC treatment altered soil microbial communities, but the effect of warming was mediated by mosses and shrubs (i.e., plant functional group removal versus presence), and often varied with successional stage (paper III). These interactions between warming and plant functional removal often favored bacterial-based (versus fungal-based) microbial communities in early successional stages, which may help promote decomposition rates of labile organic substrates and more rapid nutrient cycling (Bardgett & Wardle, 2010). These stronger interactive effects in early successional boreal forests were likely due to both higher nutrient availability in early successional stages and the mediating effects of understory plant functional groups. However, the nematode community was primarily positively affected by the presence of mosses and shrubs, with these effects generally being independent of warming or successional stage. This consistent responsiveness of nematodes to the understory vegetation is likely due to the effects of this vegetation on organic inputs to the soil (Arpin *et al.*, 1995; Sayer, 2006) and soil moisture (Kardol *et*

al., 2010). Microbes in boreal forest soils appear to be more sensitive than nematodes to interactions between warming, plant functional group removal and successional stage, probably due in part to their limited mobility within the soil.

These results highlight that different types of soil microorganisms may respond in contrasting manners to interactions between warming and plant functional groups, with likely consequences for ecosystem functioning that can vary with successional stage. Therefore, changes to understory vegetation caused by disturbances that impact on forest successional stage will interact with warming and alter the magnitude of its effects. The examination of other guilds within the soil and litter community not studied here (i.e., mites, collembola, tardigrades, enchytraeids) and creating a food web that links their responses to the factors studied in this work would offer a more complete picture of how the soil community may change as surface temperatures continue to warm.

On the longer term, as the climate warms, temperature and its indirect effects via changes to the plant community will play an important role in reshaping the microbial community, with potentially important consequences for nutrient and C cycling (Bardgett *et al.*, 2008; Kardol *et al.*, 2010; Ward *et al.*, 2013). Alterations to these processes may in turn feed back to plant community composition (van der Putten *et al.*, 2013) and ultimately ecosystem C exchange (Bardgett *et al.*, 2008; Bardgett *et al.*, 2013; Ward *et al.*, 2013). Our results underscore that considering the context-dependent responses of different components of the soil community to interactions between warming and different plant functional groups (which are important drivers of ecosystem processes and function (Díaz *et al.*, 2004)) along successional gradients is crucial to the development of accurate predictions of effects of global warming in boreal ecosystems.

3.4 Vascular plant litter decomposition responses to multiple environmental drivers

Litter decomposition and nutrient loss were primarily driven by plant functional group removal and not by interactions with warming or successional stage (paper IV). The moss layer increased litter mass loss and reduced litter P loss, while shrub presence typically reduced litter mass loss, but caused greater immobilization of P for one of the three litter species tested. Litter N loss was unaffected by plant functional group removal. Warming interacted with stand age and the litter species decomposed, but these effects were uncommon and generally weak. Further, plant functional group removals and litter species

identity had different effects on the release of N versus P from the decomposing litter. Previous studies have shown litter species identity to be a stronger driver of decomposition than are the direct effects of climate (Hobbie, 1996; Aerts, 2006; Cornwell *et al.*, 2008), which is supported by our findings. Given that shrubs and mosses are dominant understory functional groups throughout the boreal zone, the effects observed here may also be relevant for boreal forests over large areas of the Northern Hemisphere.

The effects of moss and shrub removal on decomposition and nutrient release were dependent upon the litter species considered, thereby highlighting the species-specific decomposition responses to understory plant functional groups. As climate change advances, moss cover is expected to decrease (Rixen & Mulder, 2009; Sorensen et al., 2012) and shrub cover is expected to increase (Myers-Smith et al., 2011). Taken together with the results presented here, this suggests that as climate change advances the resultant lower moss cover will hinder decomposition rates but increase nutrient cycling rates, while the predicted increase in shrub cover will likely reduce decomposition rates and nutrient cycling. Further, these results emphasize the importance of considering how climate-induced shifts to plant community composition over the long-term (Chapin et al., 1995) can have indirect effects that may differ for two interlinked ecosystems processes, namely litter decomposition and nutrient loss. As the climate continues to warm, temperature and its indirect effects via changes to the vegetation and subsequent changes to the microclimate created by the vegetation will play an important role in driving decomposition, with likely impacts on C storage and nutrient cycling (Straková et al., 2011; Langley & Hungate, 2014). Our findings indicate that, at least in the short term, the decomposition of vascular plant litter is more strongly driven by plant functional groups and litter species identity than by stand age and warming.

3.5 Conclusions

The results presented in this thesis contribute to our understanding of climate impacts upon plant and soil driven ecosystem processes along environmental gradients. Although the works presented here advance our knowledge in this field, there are still many unanswered questions. Below are issues that merit further exploration that have been spawned by each of the papers in this thesis and that consider different spatial and temporal scales:

I. If the growth chamber experiment from paper I were to be repeated using different species (i.e., forbs or dwarf shrubs instead of grasses), would the soil legacy effects of temperature have been the same? Would executing a similar experiment in a natural community (versus in the growth chamber) yield similar results and conclusions? It is likely that plant species with different growth strategies and mycorrhizal associations will react differently to the legacy effects of temperature and that contrasting plant communities would show alternative responses to those observed in paper I. It would also be very interesting to consider a greater time scale to investigate if and when the legacy effects of temperature cease to be of importance for plant performance (i.e., when current environmental conditions become more important).

- II. If the experiment from paper II were to be repeated in a different community (i.e., meadow vegetation), would similar responses in leaf phenolic concentrations to fertilization and elevation occur? Considering that subarctic meadow vegetation has much lower polyphenol concentrations than heath vegetation, it is likely the effects of fertilization and elevation would be less pronounced in meadow vegetation. Does the duration of the fertilization interact with temperature to affect plant defense? Further, sampling along an elevational gradient with even more pronounced temperature differences (i.e., a longer gradient with greater temperature extremes) would likely yield stronger and more significant effects of elevation and fertilization on plant defense. Therefore, exploring fertilization effects over greater spatial and temporal scales across different soil types would allow us to make more accurate predictions about how increased nutrient availability and/or cycling rates will alter ecosystem functioning as climate change advances.
- III. Do the interactive effects of warming and plant functional group removal along a successional gradient on the microbial community become stronger over greater temporal scales than that considered in this study? Would high throughput sequencing of the soils examined in paper III allow for clearer resolution of how the microbial community was affected by the treatments? Importantly, delving deeper into determining the specific identity and function of different components of the nematode and microbial community would allow for a more accurate picture of the ecosystem processes these organisms drive. If the experiment in paper III were allowed to continue over a longer time scale, would the nematode community eventually be affected by interactions between warming, plant functional group removal and successional stage? With increasing experimental duration, it is likely an alternate
- 36

steady state would be reached, thereby reducing the effects of the treatments (i.e., the nematode community may never be affected by the warming treatment).

IV. If the duration of the warming and plant functional group removal were increased, would interactive effects treatments on decomposition and nutrient release have been realized in paper IV? Would repeating this experiment utilizing litter from all dominant species from the boreal system realize different results, such as more multi-way interactions? The lack of warming effects on decomposition in paper IV were probably the result of a minimal warming effect from the OTCs. If temperature increases were higher and the experiment was allowed to run longer, greater effects would likely be observed. However, species identity would still likely trump environmental conditions in most cases, which would further underscore the necessity of considering community composition when discussing decomposition responses to climate.

Designing and implementing experiments that explore how increasing temperatures interact with both abiotic and biotic components is critical for building comprehensive predictions about what the functioning of terrestrial ecosystems will look like under the new climate regime.

Taken collectively, the results of this thesis provide us with a number of important conclusions about how climate (i.e., temperature) can interact with other environmental factors to impact upon ecological processes (Figure 7). Firstly, each of the studies in this thesis showed that the responses of plants, soils and the processes they control to changing temperature often varied according to environmental context. Importantly, these studies showed that there is no blanket response to changes in temperature regime. Instead, they reveal that the specific environmental context needs to be taken into consideration when making predictions of how advancing global climate change might alter ecosystem functioning. However, despite this seeming hindrance, the chapters of this thesis actually advance our predictive powers because they give us a platform upon which we can build more accurate, context-dependent climate change projections. The type of data that this thesis has generated could potentially make a useful contribution to informing models that predict the effects of increasing temperature on plants and soils.

Nonetheless, caution must be exercised because these experiments were conducted in only two different types of biomes: subarctic tundra and the boreal forest. Even across these two high-latitude systems, the responses of ecosystem processes to changes in temperature were not consistently negative,

positive or even idiosyncratic. Further, it also remains to be seen if the effects observed here are indeed representative of subarctic tundra and the boreal forest on the circumpolar scale. Additionally, expanding upon the work done here by comparing ecosystem responses to these drivers across different types of biomes elsewhere (e.g., temperate-deciduous, tropical, savannah) would aid in understanding the extent to which the main findings of this thesis are broadly applicable; that is, to what extent can generalization be made at the global scale. Addressing this would further enhance our understanding of the complex interactions between different components of each respective ecosystem (Kardol *et al.*, 2012).

Further, it must be noted that certain dominant species may have been particularly strong drivers of the responses observed in all chapters of this thesis. Plant species that are common to both the subarctic and boreal systems may have been especially influential. For example, *E. hermaphroditum* is known to produce high amounts of batatasin-III (Odén *et al.*, 1992), an allelopathic chemical known to impact upon soil microbial activity (Wardle *et al.*, 1998), inhibit seedling germination (Zackrisson & Nilsson, 1992) and negatively affect species richness (Pellissier *et al.*, 2010). However, it has been found that the detrimental effects of *E. hermaphroditum* on ecosystem processes can be reversed by disturbances such as wildfire or nutrient input (Bråthen *et al.*, 2010). Considering the potential of this dominant dwarf shrub species to act as a type of ecosystem engineer (Bråthen & Ravolainen, 2015) highlights the importance of considering the role dominant species may play in modifying the effects of temperature in other biomes.

In addition, our understanding of the role of the drivers considered in this thesis other than temperature (i.e., soil legacies, nutrient addition, plant functional groups, successional stage) in controlling ecosystems processes is far from comprehensive. No doubt myriad other factors can also be identified as important interactive partners with temperature. However, as interest in multiple factor experiments continues to grow, we must exercise restraint. Just because we have the resources to create gigantic experiments that consider a plethora of drivers and the statistical power to analyse the massive data sets that these experiments generate does not mean that the experiment itself will necessarily yield ecologically relevant results. For instance, it has been shown that as the number of measured ecosystem drivers increases the magnitude of observed response tends to decrease (Leuzinger et al., 2011). The best starting place to build multi-factorial experiments is to identify factors that have been found to have a strong main effect on ecosystem processes and then determine whether or not interactions between such factors do indeed interactively drive the processes in question. We must temper feasibility with wisdom and

carefully select the most relevant factors that will likely yield the best explanation for the ecological patterns that we are attempting to understand (Templer & Reinmann, 2011).



Figure 7. The importance of different factors considered in this thesis in driving ecosystem processes and function. (*)= significant influence and (ns)= non-significant influence. Roman numerals in parentheses indicate thesis chapters.

Finally, there is increasing interest in experiments that take into account how multiple factors drive ecosystem processes and their response to climate change (Tylianakis *et al.*, 2008; Ostle *et al.*, 2009; Templer & Reinmann, 2011). The chapters contained in this thesis expand upon this topic by showing that plant performance and defense (papers I and II), soil communities (paper III) and litter decomposition and subsequent nutrient release (paper IV) were often affected by changes in temperature, but that these effects were in turn dependent upon other ecosystem components. However, this is far from the end of the story. The next phase is to delve deeper and seek a greater understanding of how these different components that are controlled by temperature drive ecosystem responses. Compiling and analyzing data from across ecosystems from different groups of organisms could build upon the results of this thesis and further our understanding of how ecosystem function will be altered as climate change advances.

4 References

- Aerts, R. (2006). The freezer defrosting: global warming and litter decomposition rates in cold biomes. *Journal of Ecology*, 94(4), pp. 713-724.
- Aerts, R. & Chapin, F.S. (2000). The mineral nutrition of wild plants revisited: A re-evaluation of processes and patterns. In: Fitter, A.H. & Raffaelli, D.G. (eds) Advances in Ecological Research, Vol 30. (Advances in Ecological Research, 30), pp. 1-67. Available from: <Go to ISI>://WOS:000085820900001.
- Albert, C.H., Grassein, F., Schurr, F.M., Vieilledent, G. & Violle, C. (2011). When and how should intraspecific variability be considered in trait-based plant ecology? *Perspectives in Plant Ecology Evolution and Systematics*, 13(3), pp. 217-225.
- Anderson, J.P.E. & Domsch, K.H. (1978). Physiological method for quantitative measurement of microbial biomass in soils. *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 10(3), pp. 215-221.
- Angers, D.A. & Caron, J. (1998). Plant-induced changes in soil structure: Processes and feedbacks. *Biogeochemistry*, 42(1-2), pp. 55-72.
- Arpin, P., Ponge, J.F. & Vannier, G. (1995). Experimental modifications of litter supplies in a forest mull and reaction of the nematode fauna. *Fundamental* and Applied Nematology, 18(4), pp. 371-389.
- Ayres, E., Steltzer, H., Simmons, B.L., Simpson, R.T., Steinweg, J.M., Wallenstein, M.D., Mellor, N., Parton, W.J., Moore, J.C. & Wall, D.H. (2009). Home-field advantage accelerates leaf litter decomposition in forests. *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 41(3), pp. 606-610.
- Bachelet, D., Neilson, R.P., Lenihan, J.M. & Drapek, R.J. (2001). Climate change effects on vegetation distribution and carbon budget in the United States. *Ecosystems*, 4(3), pp. 164-185.
- Bahram, M., Polme, S., Koljalg, U., Zarre, S. & Tedersoo, L. (2012). Regional and local patterns of ectomycorrhizal fungal diversity and community structure along an altitudinal gradient in the Hyrcanian forests of northern Iran. New Phytologist, 193(2), pp. 465-473.
- Bardgett, R.D. & Chan, K.F. (1999). Experimental evidence that soil fauna enhance nutrient mineralization and plant nutrient uptake in montane grassland ecosystems. *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 31(7), pp. 1007-1014.

- Bardgett, R.D., Freeman, C. & Ostle, N.J. (2008). Microbial contributions to climate change through carbon cycle feedbacks. *Isme Journal*, 2(8), pp. 805-814.
- Bardgett, R.D., Manning, P., Morrien, E. & De Vries, F.T. (2013). Hierarchical responses of plant-soil interactions to climate change: consequences for the global carbon cycle. *Journal of Ecology*, 101(2), pp. 334-343.
- Bardgett, R.D. & Wardle, D.A. (2003). Herbivore-mediated linkages between aboveground and belowground communities. *Ecology*, 84(9), pp. 2258-2268.
- Bardgett, R.D. & Wardle, D.A. (2010). Aboveground-Belowground Linkages: Biotic Interactions, Ecosystem Processes, and Global Change (Oxford Series in Ecology and Evolution).
- Bartels, S.F., Chen, H.Y.H., Wulder, M.A. & White, J.C. (2016). Trends in postdisturbance recovery rates of Canada's forests following wildfire and harvest. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 361, pp. 194-207.
- Bernal, M., Llorens, L., Julkunen-Tiitto, R., Badosa, J. & Verdaguer, D. (2013). Altitudinal and seasonal changes of phenolic compounds in Buxus sempervirens leaves and cuticles. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*, 70, pp. 471-482.
- Berns, A.E., Philipp, H., Narres, H.D., Burauel, P., Vereecken, H. & Tappe, W. (2008). Effect of gamma-sterilization and autoclaving on soil organic matter structure as studied by solid state NMR, UV and fluorescence spectroscopy. *European Journal of Soil Science*, 59(3), pp. 540-550.
- Bezemer, T.M., Lawson, C.S., Hedlund, K., Edwards, A.R., Brook, A.J., Igual, J.M., Mortimer, S.R. & Van der Putten, W.H. (2006). Plant species and functional group effects on abiotic and microbial soil properties and plantsoil feedback responses in two grasslands. *Journal of Ecology*, 94(5), pp. 893-904.
- Bidart-Bouzat, M.G. & Imeh-Nathaniel, A. (2008). Global change effects on plant chemical defenses against insect herbivores. *Journal of Integrative Plant Biology*, 50(11), pp. 1339-1354.
- Björk, R.G., Klemedtsson, L., Molau, U., Harndorf, J., Odman, A. & Giesler, R. (2007). Linkages between N turnover and plant community structure in a tundra landscape. *Plant and Soil*, 294(1-2), pp. 247-261.
- Blanchet, F.G., Legendre, P. & Borcard, D. (2008). Forward selection of explanatory variables. *Ecology*, 89(9), pp. 2623-2632.
- Bligh, E.G. & Dyer, W.J. (1959). A rapid method of total lipid extraction and purification. *Canadian Journal of Biochemistry and Physiology*, 37(8), pp. 911-917.
- Borcard, D., Legendre, P. & Drapeau, P. (1992). Partialling out the spatial component of ecological variation. *Ecology*, 73(3), pp. 1045-1055.
- Bradley, R.L., Titus, B.D. & Preston, C.P. (2000). Changes to mineral N cycling and microbial communities in black spruce humus after additions of (NH4)(2)SO4 and condensed tannins extracted from Kalmia angustifolia and balsam fir. Soil Biology & Biochemistry, 32(8-9), pp. 1227-1240.

- Bråthen, K.A., Fodstad, C.H. & Gallet, C. (2010). Ecosystem disturbance reduces the allelopathic effects of Empetrum hermaphroditum humus on tundra plants. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 21(4), pp. 786-795.
- Bråthen, K.A. & Hagberg, O. (2004). More efficient estimation of plant biomass. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 15(5), pp. 653-660.
- Bråthen, K.A. & Ravolainen, V.T. (2015). Niche construction by growth forms is as strong a predictor of species diversity as environmental gradients. *Journal of Ecology*, 103(3), pp. 701-713.
- Bryant, J.P., Chapin, F.S. & Klein, D.R. (1983). Carbon nutrient balance of boreal plants in relation to vertebrate herbivory. *Oikos*, 40(3), pp. 357-368.
- Chapin, F.S., Shaver, G.R., Giblin, A.E., Nadelhoffer, K.J. & Laundre, J.A. (1995). Responses of arctic tundra to experimental and observed changes in climate. *Ecology*, 76(3), pp. 694-711.
- Chapin, F.S., Walker, L.R., Fastie, C.L. & Sharman, L.C. (1994). Mechanisms of primary succession following deglaciation at Glacier Bay, Alaska. *Ecological Monographs*, 64(2), pp. 149-175.
- Cleland, E.E., Chuine, I., Menzel, A., Mooney, H.A. & Schwartz, M.D. (2007). Shifting plant phenology in response to global change. *Trends in Ecology* & *Evolution*, 22(7), pp. 357-365.
- Close, D.C. & McArthur, C. (2002). Rethinking the role of many plant phenolics protection from photodamage not herbivores? *Oikos*, 99(1), pp. 166-172.
- Coley, P.D., Bryant, J.P. & Chapin, F.S. (1985). Resource availability and plant antiherbivore defense. *Science*, 230(4728), pp. 895-899.
- Cornwell, W.K., Cornelissen, J.H.C., Amatangelo, K., Dorrepaal, E., Eviner, V.T., Godoy, O., Hobbie, S.E., Hoorens, B., Kurokawa, H., Perez-Harguindeguy, N., Quested, H.M., Santiago, L.S., Wardle, D.A., Wright, I.J., Aerts, R., Allison, S.D., van Bodegom, P., Brovkin, V., Chatain, A., Callaghan, T.V., Diaz, S., Garnier, E., Gurvich, D.E., Kazakou, E., Klein, J.A., Read, J., Reich, P.B., Soudzilovskaia, N.A., Vaieretti, M.V. & Westoby, M. (2008). Plant species traits are the predominant control on litter decomposition rates within biomes worldwide. *Ecology Letters*, 11(10), pp. 1065-1071.
- Davidson, E.A. & Janssens, I.A. (2006). Temperature sensitivity of soil carbon decomposition and feedbacks to climate change. *Nature*, 440(7081), pp. 165-173.
- DeLuca, T.H., Nilsson, M.C. & Zackrisson, O. (2002). Nitrogen mineralization and phenol accumulation along a fire chronosequence in northern Sweden. *Oecologia*, 133(2), pp. 206-214.
- Díaz, S., Hodgson, J.G., Thompson, K., Cabido, M., Cornelissen, J.H.C., Jalili, A., Montserrat-Marti, G., Grime, J.P., Zarrinkamar, F., Asri, Y., Band, S.R., Basconcelo, S., Castro-Diez, P., Funes, G., Hamzehee, B., Khoshnevi, M., Perez-Harguindeguy, N., Perez-Rontome, M.C., Shirvany, F.A., Vendramini, F., Yazdani, S., Abbas-Azimi, R., Bogaard, A., Boustani, S., Charles, M., Dehghan, M., de Torres-Espuny, L., Falczuk, V., Guerrero-Campo, J., Hynd, A., Jones, G., Kowsary, E., Kazemi-Saeed, F., Maestro-Martinez, M., Romo-Diez, A., Shaw, S., Siavash, B., Villar-Salvador, P.

& Zak, M.R. (2004). The plant traits that drive ecosystems: Evidence from three continents. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 15(3), pp. 295-304.

- Díaz, S., Symstad, A.J., Chapin, F.S., Wardle, D.A. & Huenneke, L.F. (2003). Functional diversity revealed by removal experiments. *Trends in Ecology* & *Evolution*, 18(3), pp. 140-146.
- Dorrepaal, E., Cornelissen, J.H.C. & Aerts, R. (2007). Changing leaf litter feedbacks on plant production across contrasting sub-arctic peatland species and growth forms. *Oecologia*, 151(2), pp. 251-261.
- Endara, M.J. & Coley, P.D. (2011). The resource availability hypothesis revisited: a meta-analysis. *Functional Ecology*, 25(2), pp. 389-398.
- Facelli, J.M. & Pickett, S.T.A. (1991). Plant litter- its dynamics and effects on plant community structure. *Botanical Review*, 57(1), pp. 1-32.
- Feller, I.C. (1995). Effects of nutrient enrichment on growth and herbivory of dwarf red mangrove (Rhizophora mangle). *Ecological Monographs*, 65(4), pp. 477-505.
- Fierer, N., Schimel, J.P., Cates, R.G. & Zou, J.P. (2001). Influence of balsam poplar tannin fractions on carbon and nitrogen dynamics in Alaskan taiga floodplain soils. *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 33(12-13), pp. 1827-1839.
- Frostegård, A. & Bååth, E. (1996). The use of phospholipid fatty acid analysis to estimate bacterial and fungal biomass in soil. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 22(1-2), pp. 59-65.
- Frostegård, A., Bååth, E. & Tunlid, A. (1993). Shifts in the structure of soil microbial communities in limed forests as revealed by phospholipid fattyacid analysis. *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 25(6), pp. 723-730.
- Frostegård, A., Tunlid, A. & Bååth, E. (2011). Use and misuse of PLFA measurements in soils. *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 43(8), pp. 1621-1625.
- Frostegård, Å., Tunlid, A. & Bååth, E. (1991). Microbial biomass measured as total lipid phosphate in soils of different organic content. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, 14(3), pp. 151-163.
- Fukami, T. & Wardle, D.A. (2005). Long-term ecological dynamics: reciprocal insights from natural and anthropogenic gradients. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences*, 272(1577), pp. 2105-2115.
- Gallet, C. & Lebreton, P. (1995). Evolution of phenolic patterns in plants and associated litters and humus of a mountain forest ecoystem. *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 27(2), pp. 157-165.
- Garcia-Palacios, P., Vandegehuchte, M.L., Shaw, E.A., Dam, M., Post, K.H., Ramirez, K.S., Sylvain, Z.A., de Tomasel, C.M. & Wall, D.H. (2015). Are there links between responses of soil microbes and ecosystem functioning to elevated CO2, N deposition and warming? A global perspective. *Global Change Biology*, 21(4), pp. 1590-1600.
- Garnier, E., Cortez, J., Billes, G., Navas, M.L., Roumet, C., Debussche, M., Laurent, G., Blanchard, A., Aubry, D., Bellmann, A., Neill, C. & Toussaint, J.P. (2004). Plant functional markers capture ecosystem properties during secondary succession. *Ecology*, 85(9), pp. 2630-2637.
- Garnier, E., Lavorel, S., Ansquer, P., Castro, H., Cruz, P., Dolezal, J., Eriksson, O., Fortunel, C., Freitas, H., Golodets, C., Grigulis, K., Jouany, C., Kazakou,

E., Kigel, J., Kleyer, M., Lehsten, V., Leps, J., Meier, T., Pakeman, R., Papadimitriou, M., Papanastasis, V.P., Quested, H., Quetier, F., Robson, M., Roumet, C., Rusch, G., Skarpe, C., Sternberg, M., Theau, J.P., Thebault, A., Vile, D. & Zarovali, M.P. (2007). Assessing the effects of land-use change on plant traits, communities and ecosystem functioning in grasslands: A standardized methodology and lessons from an application to 11 European sites. *Annals of Botany*, 99(5), pp. 967-985.

- Goodall, D.W. (1952). Some considerations in the use of point quadrats for the analysis of vegetation. *Australian Journal of Scientific Research Series B-Biological Sciences*, 5(1), pp. 1-41.
- Grime, J.P. (1998). Benefits of plant diversity to ecosystems: immediate, filter and founder effects. *Journal of Ecology*, 86(6), pp. 902-910.
- Gundale, M.J., From, F., Bach, L.H. & Nordin, A. (2014a). Anthropogenic nitrogen deposition in boreal forests has a minor impact on the global carbon cycle. *Global Change Biology*, 20(1), pp. 276-286.
- Gundale, M.J., Kardol, P., Nilsson, M.-C., Nilsson, U., Lucas, R.W. & Wardle, D.A. (2014b). Interactions with soil biota shift from negative to positive when a tree species is moved outside its native range. *New Phytologist*, pp. n/a-n/a.
- Gundale, M.J., Sverker, J., Albrectsen, B.R., Nilsson, M.C. & Wardle, D.A. (2010). Variation in protein complexation capacity among and within six plant species across a boreal forest chronosequence. *Plant Ecology*, 211(2), pp. 253-266.
- Hagen, S.B., Jepsen, J.U., Ims, R.A. & Yoccoz, N.G. (2007). Shifting altitudinal distribution of outbreak zones of winter moth Operophtera brumata in sub-arctic birch forest: a response to recent climate warming? *Ecography*, 30(2), pp. 299-307.
- Hamilton, J.G., Zangerl, A.R., DeLucia, E.H. & Berenbaum, M.R. (2001). The carbon-nutrient balance hypothesis: its rise and fall. *Ecology Letters*, 4(1), pp. 86-95.
- Hart, S.A. & Chen, H.Y.H. (2006). Understory vegetation dynamics of North American boreal forests. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences*, 25(4), pp. 381-397.
- Hättenschwiler, S. & Vitousek, P.M. (2000). The role of polyphenols in terrestrial ecosystem nutrient cycling. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 15(6), pp. 238-243.
- Hobbie, S.E. (1996). Temperature and plant species control over litter decomposition in Alaskan tundra. *Ecological Monographs*, 66(4), pp. 503-522.
- Hollister, R.D., Webber, P.J. & Tweedie, C.E. (2005). The response of Alaskan arctic tundra to experimental warming: differences between short- and long-term responses. *Global Change Biology*, 11(4), pp. 525-536.
- Hudson, J.M.G. & Henry, G.H.R. (2010). High Arctic plant community resists 15 years of experimental warming. *Journal of Ecology*, 98(5), pp. 1035-1041.

- Hudson, J.M.G., Henry, G.H.R. & Cornwell, W.K. (2011). Taller and larger: shifts in Arctic tundra leaf traits after 16 years of experimental warming. *Global Change Biology*, 17(2), pp. 1013-1021.
- IPCC, (2013). Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, (Eds.), Stocker, T.F., Qin, D., Plattner, G.-K., Tignor, M., Allen, S.K., Boschung, J., Nauels, A., Xia, Y., Bex, V., Midgley, P.M. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.
- Jackson, B.G., Nilsson, M.C. & Wardle, D.A. (2013). The effects of the moss layer on the decomposition of intercepted vascular plant litter across a post-fire boreal forest chronosequence. *Plant and Soil*, 367(1-2), pp. 199-214.
- Jenkins, W.R. (1964). A rapid centrifugal-flotation technique for separating nematodes from soil. *Plant Disease Reporter*, 48(9), p. 692.
- Joanisse, G.D., Bradley, R.L., Preston, C.M. & Bending, G.D. (2009). Sequestration of soil nitrogen as tannin-protein complexes may improve the competitive ability of sheep laurel (Kalmia angustifolia) relative to black spruce (Picea mariana). *New Phytologist*, 181(1), pp. 187-198.
- Johnson, M.T.J. (2011). Evolutionary ecology of plant defences against herbivores. *Functional Ecology*, 25(2), pp. 305-311.
- Jonasson, S. (1992). Plant-responses to fertilization and species removal in tundra related to community structure and clonality *Oikos*, 63(3), pp. 420-429.
- Jones, C.G. & Hartley, S.E. (1999). A protein competition model of phenolic allocation. *Oikos*, 86(1), pp. 27-44.
- Jonsson, M. & Wardle, D.A. (2008). Context dependency of litter-mixing effects on decomposition and nutrient release across a long-term chronosequence. *Oikos*, 117(11), pp. 1674-1682.
- Kalbitz, K., Solinger, S., Park, J.H., Michalzik, B. & Matzner, E. (2000). Controls on the dynamics of dissolved organic matter in soils: A review. *Soil Science*, 165(4), pp. 277-304.
- Kardol, P., Cornips, N.J., van Kempen, M.M.L., Bakx-Schotman, J.M.T. & van der Putten, W.H. (2007). Microbe-mediated plant-soil feedback causes historical contingency effects in plant community assembly. *Ecological Monographs*, 77(2), pp. 147-162.
- Kardol, P., Cregger, M.A., Campany, C.E. & Classen, A.T. (2010). Soil ecosystem functioning under climate change: plant species and community effects. *Ecology*, 91(3), pp. 767-781.
- Kardol, P., De Deyn, G.B., Laliberte, E., Mariotte, P. & Hawkes, C.V. (2013). Biotic plant-soil feedbacks across temporal scales. *Journal of Ecology*, 101(2), pp. 309-315.
- Kardol, P., De Long, J.R. & Sundqvist, M.K. (2012). Crossing the threshold: the power of multi-level experiments in identifying global change responses. *New Phytologist*, 196(2), pp. 323-326.
- Karlsson, J., Jonsson, A. & Jansson, M. (2005). Productivity of high-latitude lakes: climate effect inferred from altitude gradient. *Global Change Biology*, 11(5), pp. 710-715.

- Kirschbaum, M.U.F. (1995). The temperature-dependence of soil organic-matter decomposition, and the effect of global warming on soil organic C storage. Soil Biology & Biochemistry, 27(6), pp. 753-760.
- Kirschbaum, M.U.F. (2000). Will changes in soil organic carbon act as a positive or negative feedback on global warming? *Biogeochemistry*, 48(1), pp. 21-51.
- Klironomos, J.N. (2002). Feedback with soil biota contributes to plant rarity and invasiveness in communities. *Nature*, 417(6884), pp. 67-70.
- Kohler, J., Brandt, O., Johansson, M. & Callaghan, T. (2006). A long-term Arctic snow depth record from Abisko, northern Sweden, 1913-2004. *Polar Research*, 25(2), pp. 91-113.
- Koricheva, J. (2002). Meta-analysis of sources of variation in fitness costs of plant antiherbivore defenses. *Ecology*, 83(1), pp. 176-190.
- Koricheva, J., Larsson, S., Haukioja, E. & Keinanen, M. (1998). Regulation of woody plant secondary metabolism by resource availability: hypothesis testing by means of meta-analysis. *Oikos*, 83(2), pp. 212-226.
- Kraus, T.E.C., Zasoski, R.J. & Dahlgren, R.A. (2004). Fertility and pH effects on polyphenol and condensed tannin concentrations in foliage and roots. *Plant and Soil*, 262(1-2), pp. 95-109.
- Langley, J.A. & Hungate, B.A. (2014). Plant community feedbacks and long-term ecosystem responses to multi-factored global change. *Aob Plants*, 6, p. 12.
- Langley, J.A. & Megonigal, J.P. (2010). Ecosystem response to elevated CO2 levels limited by nitrogen-induced plant species shift. *Nature*, 466(7302), pp. 96-99.
- Lattanzio, V., Lattanzio, V.M.T. & Cardinali, A. (2006). Role of phenolics in the resistance mechanisms of plants against fungal pathogens and insects. (Phytochemistry: advances in research. Available from: <Go to ISI>://CABI:20073084853.
- Lepš, J., de Bello, F., Smilauer, P. & Dolezal, J. (2011). Community trait response to environment: disentangling species turnover vs intraspecific trait variability effects. *Ecography*, 34(5), pp. 856-863.
- Leuzinger, S., Luo, Y.Q., Beier, C., Dieleman, W., Vicca, S. & Korner, C. (2011). Do global change experiments overestimate impacts on terrestrial ecosystems? *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 26(5), pp. 236-241.
- Lindo, Z. & Gonzalez, A. (2010). The Bryosphere: An Integral and Influential Component of the Earth's Biosphere. *Ecosystems*, 13(4), pp. 612-627.
- Mack, M.C., Schuur, E.A.G., Bret-Harte, M.S., Shaver, G.R. & Chapin, F.S. (2004). Ecosystem carbon storage in arctic tundra reduced by long-term nutrient fertilization. *Nature*, 431(7007), pp. 440-443.
- Manning, P., Morrison, S.A., Bonkowski, M. & Bardgett, R.D. (2008). Nitrogen enrichment modifies plant community structure via changes to plant-soil feedback. *Oecologia*, 157(4), pp. 661-673.
- Marion, G.M., Henry, G.H.R., Freckman, D.W., Johnstone, J., Jones, G., Jones, M.H., Levesque, E., Molau, U., Molgaard, P., Parsons, A.N., Svoboda, J. & Virginia, R.A. (1997). Open-top designs for manipulating field temperature in high-latitude ecosystems. *Global Change Biology*, 3, pp. 20-32.

- McLaren, J.R. & Turkington, R. (2010). Ecosystem properties determined by plant functional group identity. *Journal of Ecology*, 98(2), pp. 459-469.
- Mikkelsen, T.N., Beier, C., Jonasson, S., Holmstrup, M., Schmidt, I.K., Ambus, P., Pilegaard, K., Michelsen, A., Albert, K., Andresen, L.C., Arndal, M.F., Bruun, N., Christensen, S., Danbaek, S., Gundersen, P., Jorgensen, P., Linden, L.G., Kongstad, J., Maraldo, K., Prieme, A., Riis-Nielsen, T., Ro-Poulsen, H., Stevnbak, K., Selsted, M.B., Sorensen, P., Larsen, K.S., Carter, M.S., Ibrom, A., Martinussen, T., Miglietta, F. & Sverdrup, H. (2008). Experimental design of multifactor climate change experiments with elevated CO2, warming and drought: the CLIMAITE project. *Functional Ecology*, 22(1), pp. 185-195.
- Milbau, A., Shevtsova, A., Osler, N., Mooshammer, M. & Graae, B.J. (2013). Plant community type and small-scale disturbances, but not altitude, influence the invasibility in subarctic ecosystems. *New Phytologist*, 197(3), pp. 1002-1011.
- Myers-Smith, I.H., Forbes, B.C., Wilmking, M., Hallinger, M., Lantz, T., Blok, D., Tape, K.D., Macias-Fauria, M., Sass-Klaassen, U., Levesque, E., Boudreau, S., Ropars, P., Hermanutz, L., Trant, A., Collier, L.S., Weijers, S., Rozema, J., Rayback, S.A., Schmidt, N.M., Schaepman-Strub, G., Wipf, S., Rixen, C., Menard, C.B., Venn, S., Goetz, S., Andreu-Hayles, L., Elmendorf, S., Ravolainen, V., Welker, J., Grogan, P., Epstein, H.E. & Hik, D.S. (2011). Shrub expansion in tundra ecosystems: dynamics, impacts and research priorities. *Environmental Research Letters*, 6(4), p. 15.
- Nilsson, M.C. & Wardle, D.A. (2005). Understory vegetation as a forest ecosystem driver: evidence from the northern Swedish boreal forest. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 3(8), pp. 421-428.
- Northup, R.R., Dahlgren, R.A. & McColl, J.G. (1998). Polyphenols as regulators of plant-litter-soil interactions in northern California's pygmy forest: A positive feedback? *Biogeochemistry*, 42(1-2), pp. 189-220.
- Nybakken, L., Klanderud, K. & Totland, O. (2008). Simulated Environmental Change Has Contrasting Effects on Defensive Compound Concentration in Three Alpine Plant Species. *Arctic Antarctic and Alpine Research*, 40(4), pp. 709-715.
- Odén, P.C., Brandtberg, P.O., Andersson, R., Gref, R., Zackrisson, O. & Nilsson, M.C. (1992). Isolation and Characterization of a Germination Inhibitor from Leaves of Empetrum hermaphroditum Hagerup. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research, 7(1-4), pp. 497-502.
- Ostle, N.J., Smith, P., Fisher, R., Woodward, F.I., Fisher, J.B., Smith, J.U., Galbraith, D., Levy, P., Meir, P., McNamara, N.P. & Bardgett, R.D. (2009). Integrating plant-soil interactions into global carbon cycle models. *Journal of Ecology*, 97(5), pp. 851-863.
- Pellissier, L., Brathen, K.A., Pottier, J., Randin, C.F., Vittoz, P., Dubuis, A., Yoccoz, N.G., Alm, T., Zimmermann, N.E. & Guisan, A. (2010). Species distribution models reveal apparent competitive and facilitative effects of a dominant species on the distribution of tundra plants. *Ecography*, 33(6), pp. 1004-1014.

- Peñuelas, J. & Llusià, J. (2003). BVOCs: plant defense against climate warming? *Trends in Plant Science*, 8(3), pp. 105-109.
- Pérez, C.A. & Frangi, J.L. (2000). Grassland biomass dynamics along an altitudinal gradient in the Pampa. *Journal of Range Management*, 53(5), pp. 518-528.
- Pizano, C., Mangan, S.A., Herre, E.A., Eom, A.-H. & Dalling, J.W. (2011). Above- and belowground interactions drive habitat segregation between two cryptic species of tropical trees. *Ecology*, 92(1), pp. 47-56.
- Porter, L.J., Hrstich, L.N. & Chan, B.G. (1986). The conversion of procyanidins and prodelphinidins to cyanidin and delphinidin. *Phytochemistry*, 25(1), pp. 223-230.
- Ramsey, P.W., Rillig, M.C., Feris, K.P., Holben, W.E. & Gannon, J.E. (2006). Choice of methods for soil microbial community analysis: PLFA maximizes power compared to CLPP and PCR-based approaches. *Pedobiologia*, 50(3), pp. 275-280.
- Rasmann, S., Pellissier, L., Defossez, E., Jactel, H. & Kunstler, G. (2014). Climatedriven change in plant-insect interactions along elevation gradients. *Functional Ecology*, 28(1), pp. 46-54.
- Richardson, B.A., Richardson, M.J. & Soto-Adames, F.N. (2005). Separating the effects of forest type and elevation on the diversity of litter invertebrate communities in a humid tropical forest in Puerto Rico. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 74(5), pp. 926-936.
- Rinnan, R., Michelsen, A., Baath, E. & Jonasson, S. (2007). Fifteen years of climate change manipulations alter soil microbial communities in a subarctic heath ecosystem. *Global Change Biology*, 13(1), pp. 28-39.
- Rixen, C. & Mulder, C.P.H. (2009). Species removal and experimental warming in a subarctic tundra plant community. *Oecologia*, 161(1), pp. 173-186.
- Rustad, L.E., Campbell, J.L., Marion, G.M., Norby, R.J., Mitchell, M.J., Hartley, A.E., Cornelissen, J.H.C., Gurevitch, J. & Gcte, N. (2001). A metaanalysis of the response of soil respiration, net nitrogen mineralization, and aboveground plant growth to experimental ecosystem warming. *Oecologia*, 126(4), pp. 543-562.
- Sanders, N.J., Lessard, J.P., Fitzpatrick, M.C. & Dunn, R.R. (2007). Temperature, but not productivity or geometry, predicts elevational diversity gradients in ants across spatial grains. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 16(5), pp. 640-649.
- Sayer, E.J. (2006). Using experimental manipulation to assess the roles of leaf litter in the functioning of forest ecosystems. *Biological Reviews*, 81(1), pp. 1-31.
- Scalbert, A. (1991). Antimicrobial properties of tannins. *Phytochemistry*, 30(12), pp. 3875-3883.
- Schmidt, M.W.I., Torn, M.S., Abiven, S., Dittmar, T., Guggenberger, G., Janssens, I.A., Kleber, M., Kogel-Knabner, I., Lehmann, J., Manning, D.A.C., Nannipieri, P., Rasse, D.P., Weiner, S. & Trumbore, S.E. (2011). Persistence of soil organic matter as an ecosystem property. *Nature*, 478(7367), pp. 49-56.

- Schuur, E.A.G., Bockheim, J., Canadell, J.G., Euskirchen, E., Field, C.B., Goryachkin, S.V., Hagemann, S., Kuhry, P., Lafleur, P.M., Lee, H., Mazhitova, G., Nelson, F.E., Rinke, A., Romanovsky, V.E., Shiklomanov, N., Tarnocai, C., Venevsky, S., Vogel, J.G. & Zimov, S.A. (2008). Vulnerability of permafrost carbon to climate change: Implications for the global carbon cycle. *Bioscience*, 58(8), pp. 701-714.
- Shaw, M.R., Zavaleta, E.S., Chiariello, N.R., Cleland, E.E., Mooney, H.A. & Field, C.B. (2002). Grassland responses to global environmental changes suppressed by elevated CO2. *Science*, 298(5600), pp. 1987-1990.
- Shevtsova, A., Nilsson, M.C., Gallet, C., Zackrisson, O. & Jäderlund, A. (2005). Effects of long-term alleviation of nutrient limitation on shoot growth and foliar phenolics of Empetrum hermaphroditum. *Oikos*, 111(3), pp. 445-458.
- Silvertown, J., McConway, K.J., Hughes, Z., Biss, P., Macnair, M. & Lutman, P. (2002). Ecological and genetic correlates of long-term population trends in the park grass experiment. *American Naturalist*, 160(4), pp. 409-420.
- Šmilauer, P. & Lepš, J. (2014). Multivariate Analysis of Ecological Data using
CANOCO 5. Second. ed. Cambridge, United Kingdom: Cambridge
University Press. Available from:
http://books.google.se/books?id=3hkmAwAAQBAJ.
- Sorensen, P.L., Lett, S. & Michelsen, A. (2012). Moss-specific changes in nitrogen fixation following two decades of warming, shading, and fertilizer addition. *Plant Ecology*, 213(4), pp. 695-706.
- Stern, J.L., Hagerman, A.E., Steinberg, P.D., Winter, F.C. & Estes, J.A. (1996). A new assay for quantifying brown algal phlorotannins and comparisons to previous methods. *Journal of Chemical Ecology*, 22(7), pp. 1273-1293.
- Straková, P., Niemi, R.M., Freeman, C., Peltoniemi, K., Toberman, H., Heiskanen, I., Fritze, H. & Laiho, R. (2011). Litter type affects the activity of aerobic decomposers in a boreal peatland more than site nutrient and water table regimes. *Biogeosciences*, 8(9), pp. 2741-2755.
- Sundqvist, M.K., Giesler, R., Graae, B.J., Wallander, H., Fogelberg, E. & Wardle, D.A. (2011a). Interactive effects of vegetation type and elevation on aboveground and belowground properties in a subarctic tundra. *Oikos*, 120(1), pp. 128-142.
- Sundqvist, M.K., Giesler, R. & Wardle, D.A. (2011b). Within- and Across-Species Responses of Plant Traits and Litter Decomposition to Elevation across Contrasting Vegetation Types in Subarctic Tundra. *Plos One*, 6(10).
- Sundqvist, M.K., Liu, Z.F., Giesler, R. & Wardle, D.A. (2014). Plant and microbial responses to nitrogen and phosphorus addition across an elevational gradient in subarctic tundra. *Ecology*, 95(7), pp. 1819-1835.
- Sundqvist, M.K., Sanders, N.J. & Wardle, D.A. (2013). Community and Ecosystem Responses to Elevational Gradients: Processes, Mechanisms, and Insights for Global Change. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution,* and Systematics, 44(1), pp. 261-280.
- Sundqvist, M.K., Wardle, D.A., Olofsson, E., Giesler, R. & Gundale, M.J. (2012). Chemical properties of plant litter in response to elevation: subarctic

vegetation challenges phenolic allocation theories. *Functional Ecology*, 26(5), pp. 1090-1099.

- Swift, M.J., Heal, O.W. & Anderson, J.M. (1979). Decomposition in terrestrial ecosystems. (Decomposition in terrestrial ecosystems. Oxford, UK: Blackwell Scientific Publications. Available from: <Go to ISI>://CABI:19811959940.
- Templer, P.H. & Reinmann, A.B. (2011). Multi-factor global change experiments: what have we learned about terrestrial carbon storage and exchange? *New Phytologist*, 192(4), pp. 797-800.
- Tylianakis, J.M., Didham, R.K., Bascompte, J. & Wardle, D.A. (2008). Global change and species interactions in terrestrial ecosystems. *Ecology Letters*, 11(12), pp. 1351-1363.
- van de Voorde, T.F.J., van der Putten, W.H. & Bezemer, T.M. (2011). Intra- and interspecific plant-soil interactions, soil legacies and priority effects during old-field succession. *Journal of Ecology*, 99(4), pp. 945-953.
- van der Putten, W.H., Bardgett, R.D., Bever, J.D., Bezemer, T.M., Casper, B.B., Fukami, T., Kardol, P., Klironomos, J.N., Kulmatiski, A., Schweitzer, J.A., Suding, K.N., Van de Voorde, T.F.J. & Wardle, D.A. (2013). Plantsoil feedbacks: the past, the present and future challenges. *Journal of Ecology*, 101(2), pp. 265-276.
- van der Putten, W.H., Macel, M. & Visser, M.E. (2010). Predicting species distribution and abundance responses to climate change: why it is essential to include biotic interactions across trophic levels. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences*, 365(1549), pp. 2025-2034.
- van der Putten, W.H., Vandijk, C. & Peters, B.A.M. (1993). Plant-specific soilborne diseases contribute to succession in foredune vegetation. *Nature*, 362(6415), pp. 53-56.
- Vincent, A.G., Sundqvist, M.K., Wardle, D.A. & Giesler, R. (2014). Bioavailable soil phosphorus decreases with increasing elevation in a subarctic tundra landscape. *Plos One*, 9(3), pp. e92942-e92942.
- Violle, C., Enquist, B.J., McGill, B.J., Jiang, L., Albert, C.H., Hulshof, C., Jung, V. & Messier, J. (2012). The return of the variance: intraspecific variability in community ecology. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 27(4), pp. 244-252.
- Walker, D.A., Raynolds, M.K., Daniels, F.J.A., Einarsson, E., Elvebakk, A., Gould, W.A., Katenin, A.E., Kholod, S.S., Markon, C.J., Melnikov, E.S., Moskalenko, N.G., Talbot, S.S., Yurtsev, B.A. & Team, C. (2005). The Circumpolar Arctic vegetation map. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 16(3), pp. 267-282.
- Walker, L.R., Wardle, D.A., Bardgett, R.D. & Clarkson, B.D. (2010). The use of chronosequences in studies of ecological succession and soil development. *Journal of Ecology*, 98(4), pp. 725-736.
- Wallis, C.M., Huber, D.P.W. & Lewis, K.J. (2011). Ecosystem, Location, and Climate Effects on Foliar Secondary Metabolites of Lodgepole Pine Populations from Central British Columbia. *Journal of Chemical Ecology*, 37(6), pp. 607-621.

- Ward, S.E., Ostle, N.J., Oakley, S., Quirk, H., Henrys, P.A. & Bardgett, R.D. (2013). Warming effects on greenhouse gas fluxes in peatlands are modulated by vegetation composition. *Ecology Letters*, 16(10), pp. 1285-1293.
- Wardle, D.A. (1993). Changes in the microbial biomass and metabolic quotient during leaf-litter succession in some New Zealand forest and scrubland ecosystems. *Functional Ecology*, 7(3), pp. 346-355.
- Wardle, D.A., Gundale, M.J., J\u00e4derlund, A. & Nilsson, M.C. (2013). Decoupled long-term effects of nutrient enrichment on aboveground and belowground properties in subalpine tundra. *Ecology*, 94(4), pp. 904-919.
- Wardle, D.A., Hornberg, G., Zackrisson, O., Kalela-Brundin, M. & Coomes, D.A. (2003a). Long-term effects of wildfire on ecosystem properties across an island area gradient. *Science*, 300(5621), pp. 972-975.
- Wardle, D.A., Nilsson, M.C., Gallet, C. & Zackrisson, O. (1998). An ecosystemlevel perspective of allelopathy. *Biological Reviews*, 73(3), pp. 305-319.
- Wardle, D.A., Nilsson, M.C., Zackrisson, O. & Gallet, C. (2003b). Determinants of litter mixing effects in a Swedish boreal forest. Soil Biology & Biochemistry, 35(6), pp. 827-835.
- Wardle, D.A. & Zackrisson, O. (2005). Effects of species and functional group loss on island ecosystem properties. *Nature*, 435(7043), pp. 806-810.
- White, D.C., Davis, W.M., Nickels, J.S., King, J.D. & Bobbie, R.J. (1979). Determination of the sedimentary microbial biomass by extractible lipid phosphate. *Oecologia*, 40(1), pp. 51-62.
- Whittaker, R.J., Partomihardjo, T. & Jones, S.H. (1999). Interesting times on Krakatau: stand dynamics in the 1990s. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences*, 354(1391), pp. 1857-1867.
- Wolkovich, E.M., Cook, B.I., Allen, J.M., Crimmins, T.M., Betancourt, J.L., Travers, S.E., Pau, S., Regetz, J., Davies, T.J., Kraft, N.J.B., Ault, T.R., Bolmgren, K., Mazer, S.J., McCabe, G.J., McGill, B.J., Parmesan, C., Salamin, N., Schwartz, M.D. & Cleland, E.E. (2012). Warming experiments underpredict plant phenological responses to climate change. *Nature*, 485(7399), pp. 494-497.
- Yeates, G.W., Bongers, T., Degoede, R.G.M., Freckman, D.W. & Georgieva, S.S. (1993). Feeding-habits in soil nematode families and genera- an outline for soil ecologists. *Journal of Nematology*, 25(3), pp. 315-331.
- Zackrisson, O. & Nilsson, M.C. (1992). Allelopathic effects by Empetrum hermaphroditum on seed germination of 2 boreal tree species. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research-Revue Canadienne De Recherche Forestiere*, 22(9), pp. 1310-1319.
- Zelles, L. (1999). Fatty acid patterns of phospholipids and lipopolysaccharides in the characterisation of microbial communities in soil: a review. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 29(2), pp. 111-129.
- Zhang, L.H., Shao, H.B., Ye, G.F. & Lin, Y.M. (2012). Effects of fertilization and drought stress on tannin biosynthesis of Casuarina equisetifolia seedlings branchlets. *Acta Physiologiae Plantarum*, 34(5), pp. 1639-1649.

5 Acknowledgements

First, I would like to thank my small legion of supervisors. David, I appreciated your thorough commentary, your punctuality with correspondence and revisions and the way you pushed me to become a better scientific writer. Paul, you were always there when I needed to pop into your office for a quick question or a quick mental break down. Ellen, I appreciated your attention to detail and for all the logistics required to set up and maintain the OTC experiments so that I could jump in and take my measurements in such an efficient manner. M-C, thanks for your humor and for coercing your mother into sewing 720 litterbags for me. Reiner, thanks for accompanying me into the field on the elevational gradient and for the introduction to Abisko sauna culture. And even though not one of my supervisors, thanks to Michael G. for your input on the phenols manuscript and help with resin capsule calculations.

A huge thanks goes out to the people who made my life at SLU so rich and enjoyable: Maja, Andrea, Dan, Til, Ben, Katie, Stef, Róbert, Andrés, Bright, Nathalie, Nadia, Andrés, Babs, Ryan B., Carol, Aida, Nicolas, Clydecia, Anita, Niles, Olusegun, Daniel, Malin, Arnis, Martin, Tejshree, Javier, Mark, Anna L., Nils, Hyungwoo, Jakob, Anna-Marie and Rose-Marie. A massive thanks to Kelley, who solved all my lab-related issues and acted as my impromptu "Umeå mom" when I needed a shoulder to cry on.

To my clan of friends here in Umeå (or those of you I met in Umeå) who supported me, entertained me and made life here so fulfilling. Paul, I have enjoyed all our shit talking about everything and nothing, the time spent in the garden and all our global travels together. Thanks, Nadia (a.k.a. Xanadoo), for all the great times in the garden, the lessons on French culture/cuisine and for sharing my warped, perverse sense of humor. Thanks to Lee-Ann for being sorry (not sorry) all the time, for providing ice for my beverages and for your sassy mouth. Thanks to Cédric, who made me laugh and who was always willing to help me torment Lee-Ann. I am highly appreciative of my time spent

with Guillaume (a.k.a. Gollum, a.k.a. Crispy Beard) and Sam (a.k.a. Papa Ding, a.k.a. Crispy Crumpet) learning all about "Dijon Doggy Style", French pig anus and "moles on the counter". Thanks to Andrés for getting me into climbing and for all the awesome conversations. Thank you to Clydecia for all the delicious desserts and for the education on Guyanese culture. Thanks to Signe (a.k.a. Sagnu Segwey... I will spare you the rest of your nicknames...) for all the laughs and for making me look at the other side of things. Thanks to Andrea (a.k.a. Peach Petal) for the facilitation of my personal transformation and for tromping around the rainforests of Costa Rica with me. Big love to my "Hospital Kids": Isil, Xingru, Greg and Anna; I appreciated all your party time antics and for help with logistics of assimilating into Swedish society. A big hug and thanks to my EMG people: Dagmar, Judith and Lenka. Thanks for the great party memories! Und Gesche: danke für die schönen Erinnerungen in Russland.

And to my people far and wide: Big hugs to Eve and Pernilla, my South Africa/Uppsala/Japan girls. Thank you both for all the great conversations and for all the laughs. Thanks to Maja for all the great talks (especially when I first started), an amazing field season and for the scientific inspiration. Thanks to Ciska for an unforgettable summer in Abisko and for always making your spare room available to me when I have found myself down in Wageningen. Thanks to my Mom and Dad, who always believed in me and sent me little cards and care packages. Thanks to the rest of the family for your support along the way. Sally (a.k.a. River Cooter), you know I appreciated the weekly Skype sessions and frolicking around central Europe more than a 900 pound butterfly. Thanks to Lee and Peter for taking me away to Amsterdam when I needed to escape and for all the raunchy laughs. Thanks to my Karen by Night, who always helped me put everything into perspective. Hugs to Jennie, who has put up with me for nearly 2 decades now. Finally, thanks to my Emilio, who endured the rollercoaster, made me laugh, challenged me, calmed me and above all, provided me with a source of grounding.